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Established in 2000, OneLogix is a specialist logistics service provider in well-defi ned niche 

logistics markets within South Africa and the greater southern and east African regions.

For the year the company’s shareholding in its 11 underlying businesses was typically over 70%, with 

one minority associate interest of 49%. The specifi c nature of the services offered by these respective 

companies sets relatively high barriers to entry with each of the businesses having built a strong market 

leading position in its chosen market.

2017 AWARDS

Best Reporting and 

Communications, Industrial 

Services Section Winner 

“Investment Analysts Society”

Best Results Presentation for 

companies with a market 

capitalisation < R5 billion

“Investment Analysts Society”

Top Employer Logistics sector 

and higher overall rating

“Top Employer 2017”

INVESTMENT CASE

Proven entrepreneurial model and empowering culture
Recognised ethos of 

customer service

Group businesses each market leader in well-defi ned niche

10-year compound 
annual growth
¡  Trading profi t 17%

¡  Core HEPS 14%

¡  NTAV (cps) 24%

Proven acquisition strategy 

targeting entrepreneurially-

based businesses

Structured to successfully and 

quickly assimilate acquisitions

Established track record of 

successful start-up operations

Strong and long-standing 

management teams

Signifi cant management and 

staff shareholding aligns with 

shareholder interestsHigh barriers to entry given 

specialist logistics niches
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This eighth integrated annual report aims to present a holistic 

overview of the company’s fi nancial, ESG and overall sustainability 

performance. It seeks to communicate the company’s business 

strategy and planning as well as other relevant issues in an open 

and balanced manner and the directors believe that it 

encompasses a fair account of all the capitals employed by the 

group in our business activities and on which we impact.

The scope of the report encompasses all 11 operating business 

units, reported as per the group’s segments deemed to be 

reportable for the purposes of the annual fi nancial statements: 

Abnormal Logistics and Primary Product Logistics. The third 

segment – Other – encompasses the remaining businesses and is 

denoted as a non-reportable segment for the purposes of the 

annual fi nancial statements. These businesses provide support 

services to the logistics industry as opposed to being logistics 

service providers themselves.

OneLogix’s operational activities are based primarily within South 

Africa. However, operations extend either their infrastructure or 

services reach into the greater southern African region and on 

occasion, into the east African region.

OneLogix operates in the logistics industry in southern Africa through 11 business units offering 

specialised logistics services within well-defi ned niche markets. 

Assurance

Business process Nature of assurance Status Assurance provider

Operational/fi nancial risk

Annual Financial Statements Unqualifi ed audit Assured Mazars

Internal Audit External assurance In place BDO Risk Advisory

Empowerment

B-BBEE BEE scorecard Assured Transformex

Safety

Health and Safety Internal assurance Assured Group SHEQ Manager

Quality

Quality Assurance (United Bulk) ISO 9001:2008 Assured SABS

Quality Assurance (CVDS) ISO 9001: 2015 Assured BSI

Quality Assurance (VDS) ISO 9001:2008 Assured SHEQ National

ISO 14001:2004 Assured

OHSAS 18001:2007

Ethics

Whistle Blowing External assurance In place BDS Risk Advisory

Feedback

We extend an open invitation to send any constructive views on this report to CEO Ian Lourens at ian.lourens@onelogix.com.

The Integrated Report 2017 is available in hard copy on request from the registered offi ce of the company and is also posted on the 

group’s website  www.onelogix.com.

 

Ian Lourens Alec Grant

CEO Chairman: Audit and risk committee
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It is particularly pleasing that OneLogix 

has continued our uninterrupted 

growth trajectory with another strong 

set of results, given that the economic 

and political environment continues to 

refl ect degrees of stress.

CHAIRMAN’S LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

The OneLogix business model, guided by a quality management 

team and staff, has continued proving its mettle and for FY17 we 

returned a 13 cents a share dividend to our shareholders 

(comprising an interim dividend of 8 cents per share and a fi nal 

dividend of 5 cents per share). 

This year was primarily one of consolidation following recent 

years of extensive corporate activity, and the acquisitions have 

been successfully assimilated by the company. This resulted in 

virtually exclusive organic growth for FY17 and the group’s robust 

cash-generating capacity refl ected once again. 

Our business model remains to grow existing businesses – all of 

which operate in well-defi ned niches of the broader logistics 

market in southern and South Africa, to start up new businesses 

where feasible, and to acquire smaller entrepreneurial businesses 

and offer them a strategic management platform. 

Our focus on consistent service excellence ensured that we 

continued to protect and strengthen our market share in the year. 

Completion of the infrastructure improvement at the Brakpan site 

will improve productivity going forward. The site now houses the 

head offi ce of OneLogix Linehaul, regional depot of OneLogix 

Projex, storage facilities for Atlas360, and turnaround facility for 

OneLogix United Bulk. 

OneLogix retained its Level 3 B-BBEE rating with effect from June 

2017 and we continue to work at retaining and further improving 

this status.

We expect tough business conditions to continue unabated for 

the short to medium term and OneLogix will remain focused on 

retaining and extending the existing businesses, each of which is 

well-conceived and well-managed. Notwithstanding the macro 

conditions, new opportunities do beckon and will be evaluated 

and pursued with the diligence and foresight typical of our team.

Two such opportunities have eventuated post year-end. The sale 

of our minority stake in DriveRisk and the sale and leaseback, on 

attractive terms, of the OneLogix Logistics Hub in KwaZulu-

Natal have ensured the availability of a sizable cash balance 

which, apart from strengthening the balance sheet, will be 

productively utilised for future growth.

It is the group’s preference to continue declaring dividends. 

However, future payments will continue to be evaluated against 

the prevailing trading, infrastructure and other business demands 

facing the company. 

I deeply appreciate our employees’ unwavering commitment to 

excellence. I believe that our group’s enabling culture is the key to 

our success, driving the strong performance by continually 

encouraging and empowering our people to exceed their highest 

goals. I also thank my fellow directors for their diligent and 

innovative approach to matters of the company during the year.

Finally I thank our customers, suppliers, business advisors and 

shareholders for their ongoing and invaluable support.

Sipho Pityana

Chairman

24 August 2017

Sipho Pityana

Chairman
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FY17 HIGHLIGHTS

*  From continuing operations and comparative figures have been restated.
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Financial highlights

HEPS up 15% (excluding VDS retrenchment costs2, up 20%)

Final dividend of 5 cents per share – total dividend of 13 cents per share

Diluted core HEPS up 8% (excluding VDS retrenchment costs2, up 12%)

Trading profi t1 up 7% (excluding VDS retrenchment costs2, up 10%)

Cash generated from operations pre net fi nance costs, tax and dividends up 16%

Agreement reached for DriveRisk disposal

Sale and leaseback of Umlaas Road nearing completion

1.  Trading profit is operating profit excluding the loss on sale of capital assets and share-based payment charges.

2. Once-off.
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FY17 HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Sustainability highlights

Storm-water recycling system at Pomona site

 Solar power initiative at Denne Road

Numerous stakeholder communication awards

“Top Employer” – Logistics sector for second consecutive year

Operational highlights

Successful group consolidation 

Continued focus on productivity improvements throughout the group given new 

market realities 

Cash-generating post year-end growth initiatives

Sale and leaseback of OneLogix Logistics 

Hub in KwaZulu-Natal – to realise R240 million

Sale of minority stake in DriveRisk for 

R65 million

Denne Road (Brakpan) site development substantially completed, now incorporates:

Storage facilities 

for Atlas360

Turnaround facilities for 

OneLogix United Bulk

Head offi ce for 

OneLogix Linehaul

Gauteng depot for 

OneLogix Projex

6
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ONELOGIX FAST FACTS

JSE sector:

Industrial 
Transportation

11 leading
businesses in 

well-defi ned logistics 

niches

Long-standing proven 

management teams

Market cap 

R756 million
as at 31 May 2017 
(excluding treasury shares held)

Logistics 
services 
specialist

2 493 employees
“Top Employer” Logistics sector 

for second consecutive year

Decentralised entrepreneurial culture 

balanced with central strategic input

Award-winning 

corporate 

communications

10-year compound 
annual growth

¡  Trading profi t 17%

¡  Core HEPS 14%

¡  NTAV (cps) 24%

Level 3 
B-BBEE

OneLogix Group Integrated annual report 2017
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SOUTH AFRICA

Luanda

Walvis Bay

Windhoek

Livingstone

Lubumbashi

Lusaka

Ndola and Kitwe

Dar es Salaam

Lilongwe

Blantyre

Beira
Mutare

Bulawayo

Harare

Beitbridge

Gabarone

Johannesburg

Cape Town

Bloemfontein

Port Elizabeth

East London

Durban

Umlaas Road

MaputoNelspruit

Mookgophong

ZIMBABWE

ANGOLA

NAMIBIA

ZAMBIA

MALAWI

MOZAMBIQUE

BOTSWANA

TANZANIA

SWAZILAND

OUR AFRICAN FOOTPRINT

The group’s African 

footprint was pioneered by 

VDS and together with 

other group companies has 

progressively grown over 

the past 25 years.

Footprint

Abnormal Logistics Primary Product Logistics

Other – 

Logistics Support Services

Company VDS CVDS Projex Linehaul

United 

Bulk Jackson Buffelshoek

Atlas 

360 QSA

Cargo

Solutions DriveRisk

Gauteng

Bloemfontein

Nelspruit

Durban

East London

Port Elizabeth

Cape Town

Mookgophong

Harare

Lusaka
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OUR PEOPLE, OUR SUCCESS

The majority of the founding entrepreneurs of our group businesses remain at 

the helm. This is a result of a successful acquisition and start-up strategy that 

harnesses existing and proven entrepreneurial ability, supported by centralised 

fi nancial, administrative, IT and HR services as well as strategic direction from 

Head Offi ce. Unsurprisingly the organisational structure is decentralised, based 

on entrepreneurialism balanced with the strong governance processes expected 

of a company in the public domain.

We have an explicit commitment to excellence in all dealings with our stakeholders 

that underpins our distinction in the logistics sector.

Our management and staff hold a substantial equity interest in the company which 

ensures alignment not only with other shareholders’ interests, but those of all 

stakeholders.

We understand that the working 

of a world-class organisation 

necessitates interdependence, so 

we don’t let the team down

We operate at the highest level 

of which each of us is capable

We do what we say 

and mean what 

we say so that we 

are reliable and 

conduct ourselves in 

good faith

Every single person we 

deal with, we regard as an 

individual deserving of dignity, 

courtesy and civility

All our colleagues are 

treated in an equitable 

and fair manner

We do what we say and mean 

what we say. This enables straight 

dealing and professional conduct. 

We do not tolerate corruption in 

any form whatsoever

We each accept 

responsibility for 

our individual actions 

and words

A commitment 
to excellence

Fairness

RespectTeamwork

Trust

Integrity

Accountability

OUR VALUES
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MILESTONES
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Financial year ended

Core headline earnings per share

 Acquired  Started in the group  Sold  Other

Started in the group Acquired Sold Other

’04

’07 ’09

’11

’13

’14
’15 ’16

’10

’17

4Logix

Press Support
Media Express

Magscene

Postnet

Best AltX company

B-BBEE flip up

Izingwe share buy-back
Move to JSE main board

Kagiso Capital
Staff share scheme
Logistics hub opened

Phase 2 Logistics hub

Izingwe and staff trust 
OneLogix lists on AltX

RFB Logistics

Atlas360

QSA
Drive Report
United Bulk

Madison
Andre Niemand

Buffelshoek
Jackson

Vision
Cryogas

Press Support
Magscene

4Logix

OneLogix Projex

OneLogix Linehaul

CVDS

Cargo solutions – 
Clearing and forwarding

’09

’10

’11

’13

’14

’15

’07

’04

’17

’16

Latest project – OneLogix Logistics Hub
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B-BBEE ANNUAL COMPLIANCE REPORT

B-BBEE Level – 3
B-BBEE supplier recognition

110%

Ownership } 23 points } 2,00 } 20,18

Management control } 11 points – } 5,17

Employment equity } 18 points – } 5,20

Skills development } 15 points – } 15,00

Preferential procurement } 20 points – } 15,65

Enterprise and supplier 

development
} 15 points – } 15,00

Socio-economic development } 5 points – } 5,00

Total score } 107 points } 2,00 } 81,20

B-BBEE elements

Target score 

including bonus 

points

Bonus points
Actual score 

achieved

For complete B-BBEE Annual Compliance Report, please refer to Annexure A on  page 125 of this integrated annual report.

Priority elements 

achieved P Empowering 

supplier status P

12
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FIVE-YEAR REVIEW
for the year ended 31 May 2017

Notes

2017
R’000

2016

R’000

2015

R’000

2014

R’000

2013

R’000

Extracts from statement of comprehensive 

income

Revenue  1 995 888  1 778 605  1 367 980  1 272 071  1 010 113 

Earnings before interest, taxation, 

depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) 1  294 149  264 240  199 906  170 831  131 247 

Trading profit* 2  165 718  151 026  125 115  109 039  80 491 

Trading profit 2  161 274  151 026  125 115  109 039  80 491 

Operating profit  148 146  135 842 48 654  118 611  80 197 

Net finance costs  (57 625)  (48 124)  (23 638)  (20 112)  (13 390)

Share of profits from associate  14 213  6 313  3 811  4 190  4 814 

Profit before taxation  104 734  94 730  28 827  102 689  71 621 

Taxation  (20 958)  (18 863)  (26 772)  (26 451)  (18 674)

Net profit attributable to shareholders  72 968  65 214  140 116  76 089  65 488 

Headline earnings  74 617  64 434  (3 874)  67 926  56 577 

Core headline earnings 3  92 998  86 604  76 073  72 369  57 786 

Extracts from statement of financial position

Total assets  1 850 952  1 731 133  1 448 918  926 223  774 680 

Ordinary shareholders’ funds  799 775  722 075  643 988  334 978  292 272 

Non-controlling Interests  45 295  36 509  44 430  36 599  17 184 

Total liabilities  1 005 882  972 549  760 500  554 646  465 224 

Net working capital 4  58 133  67 456  45 528  6 892  2 996 

Net interest-bearing debt  365 859  531 106  300 491  224 366  175 960 

Extracts from statement of cash flows

Net cash generated from operations (before 

net financing costs, taxation and dividends)  303 863  262 914  192 135  168 513  146 125 

Net cash generated from operations  205 099  173 195  104 933  133 434  97 431 

Net cash flows from investing activities  (36 068)  (102 207)  8 254  1 265  (88 544)

Net cash flows from financing activities  (174 752)  (130 912)  12 200  (148 680)  (63 592)

Unfunded net capex 5  (54 584)  (26 745)  (82 523)  16 721  (17 513)

Ratios 

Profitability

Trading margin* (%)  8,3  8,5  9,1  8,6  8,0 

Operating margin* (%)  7,6  7,6  3,6  9,3  7,9 

Return on invested capital (%) 6  11,3  11,2  11,9  15,5  15,2 

Return on ordinary shareholders’ funds (%) 7  12,6  12,7  15,5  23,1  20,8 

OneLogix Group Integrated annual report 2017
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FIVE-YEAR REVIEW (continued)

for the year ended 31 May 2017

Notes

2017
R’000

2016

R’000

2015

R’000

2014

R’000

2013

R’000

Solvency

Interest covered by trading profit* (times)  2,9  3,1  5,3  5,4  6,0 

Net interest-bearing debt to EBITDA (times)  1,2  2,0  1,5  1,3  1,3 

Total equity to total assets (%)  45,7  43,8  47,5  40,1  39,9 

Net interest-bearing debt to total equity (%)  43,3  70,0  43,6  60,4  56,9 

Liquidity

Free cash 8  150 515  146 450  22 410  150 155  79 918 

Free cash to core headline earnings (times)  1,62  1,69  0,29  2,07  1,38 

Cash conversion ratio (times) 9  1,03  0,99  0,96  0,99  1,11 

Share performance

Headline earnings per share (cents)  29,6  25,7  (1,7)  31,2  25,1 

Core headline earnings per share (cents)  36,9  34,6  33,9  33,3  25,6 

Net asset value per share (cents) 10  317,4  286,6  261,6  161,5  129,5 

Net tangible asset value per share (cents) 11  255,6  221,6  207,9  124,3  100,1 

Price earnings ratio on headline earnings per 

share (times)  10,1  12,1 (375,9)  13,4  13,3 

Price earnings ratio on core headline 

earnings per share (times)  8,1  9,0  18,8  12,6  13,1 

Market prices (cents)

–  Closing 300 310 639 419 335

–  High 360 529 650 556 360

–  Low 250 260 385 250 150

Total market capitalisation at closing prices 12  755 839  781 033  1 572 873  869 014  755 954 

Value of shares traded  50 190  101 683  171 219  91 528  62 834 

Volume of shares traded (’000)  16 331  24 751  33 935  27 964  26 882 

Average share price for the year (cents)  307  411  505  327  234 

Value traded to average capitalisation (%)  7  9  14  11  11 

*  Excluding once-off retrenchment costs.

Notes

 1.  Trading profit excluding depreciation and amortisation.

 2.  Operating profit excluding the loss or profit on sale of capital assets and share-based payment charges.

 3.  Headline earnings (as calculated based on SAICA Circular 2/2015) adjusted for the amortisation charge of intangibles assets recognised on business 

combinations and charges relating to share-based payments. 

 4.  Consist of inventories, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables.

 5.  Cash flows from purchase and disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

 6.  Return as a percentage of invested capital. Return is calculated by reducing the trading profit excluding once-off retrenchment costs by the effective 

income tax rate plus income from associate. The invested capital Is an average of ordinary shareholders’ funds plus non-controlling interests plus net 

interest bearing debt for the year.

 7.  Core headline earnings excluding once-off retrenchment costs as a percentage of average ordinary shareholders’ fund for the year.

 8.  Cash flows generated from operations less unfunded net capex.

 9.  Net cash generated from operations (before net financing costs, taxation and dividends) divided by EBITDA.

10.  Ordinary shareholders’ funds divided by the total ordinary shares in issue net of treasury shares.

11.  Ordinary shareholders’ funds net of intangible assets divided by the total ordinary shares in issue net of treasury shares.

12.  Total ordinary shares in issue net of treasury shares multiplied by the closing share price.

14
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ONELOGIX VALUE CREATION

Revenue

 1 995 888

Value added (R’000)

Value distribution (R’000)

Purchases from 
suppliers for goods 

and services

 (1 071 952)

Loss from disposal 
of assets

 (2 573)

Share of profi ts
from associate

 14 213

Employees

 617 829 67%
Profi ts retained 

for future expansion

 83 776
9%

Taxation

 20 958 2%
Asset replacement

 132 87514%

Finance providers

 57 625 6%
Shareholders

 22 5132%

OneLogix Group Integrated annual report 2017
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OUR OPERATIONS 

Abnormal Logistics Specialised activity MD

Established: 1998

Joined: 2001

100%

Market leader in local and cross-border 

auto-logistics

Neville Bester

29 years with VDS

Established and started by 

OneLogix: 2007

100%

Market leader in local and cross-border 

auto-logistics for vehicles in excess of 

3,5 tons

Dick van der Zee

10 years with CVDS 

(since inception)

Established and started by 

OneLogix: 2010 – amalgamated 

with other group entities RFB 

(2013) and Madison (2015)

86,9%

Market leader in project, abnormal and 

general freight logistics throughout 

South and southern Africa

Nadir Moosa

7 years with Projex 

(since inception)

Primary Product Logistics Specialised activity MD

Established: 1996

Joined: 2013

100%

Market leader in logistics for solvents, 

acid, food grade product, liquid 

petroleum gas, cryogenics and dry bulk

Patrick Pols

21 years with United 

Bulk

Established and started by 

OneLogix: 2013

75%

Specialises in the movement of general 

freight into and out of southern Africa

Karl Steyn

4 years with OneLogix 

Linehaul

Established: 1990

Joined: 2015

74%

Market leader in top-end chilled 

logistics of agricultural products

Jacques du Randt

27 years with Jackson

Established: 2003

Joined: 2015

74%

Specialises in the distribution of 

agricultural inputs and final products

Athol Saunders

14 years with 

Buffelshoek

Other – Logistics Support Services Specialised activity MD

Established: 2002

Joined: 2010

71,3%

Offers accident repairs for commercial 

vehicles, structural chassis repairs, cab 

rebuilds and specialised spray painting

Morné Nel

7 years with Atlas360

Established: 1996

Joined: 2013

85%

Developer of logistics-related 

accounting software (utilised extensively 

within the group)

Vincent Kaufman

14 years with QSA

Established: 1999

Joined: 2014

69,5%

Specialises in import and export 

warehouse handling, and recently 

clearing and forwarding activity

Andre Niemand

18 years with Cargo 

Solutions

Established: 2000

Joined: 2013

49%

Specialist in driver behaviour 

management

Louis Swart

14 years with DriveRisk

16
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THE MARKET

Without fail, the markets within which the various OneLogix 

companies operate were under duress during the year. The 

consequence for the group was experienced with respect to both 

revenue and operating margins. Typically, restrained salary 

increases was a negative repercussion. 

It must be noted that the risk of fl uctuating fuel prices is generally 

addressed in contracts with the customer base. This provides a 

natural hedge for the group to the vagaries of fuel price 

movements. 

The vehicle market (traditional motor vehicles and trucks 

greater than 3,5 tons) continued its three-year uninterrupted 

contraction. The response from our customers, the original 

equipment manufacturers and importers was for reduced 

pricing, as anticipated.

Import and export activity at the Durban harbour was also 

comparatively subdued, which infl uenced the OneLogix Projex 

performance. This business services the industrial, construction 

and mining sectors of the local and regional markets.

The liquid bulk markets, which span the mining, industrial and 

consumer markets were constrained, as was the agricultural 

market, notwithstanding the benefi t of late summer rain that 

ameliorated the effects of the worst drought in living memory.

OneLogix Linehaul was negatively affected by the contracting 

southern African markets which are heavily dependent upon the 

commodity markets.

The general economic downturn also affected Atlas360 and 

Cargo Solutions.

OneLogix Group Integrated annual report 2017
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SUPPLY CHAIN

Origin Transportation

OneLogix operating companies

Storage Delivery

Motor cars | Trucks | Abnormal loads | Liquid and 

dry bulk | Agricultural product | General freight

Market leader in customer 

IT-integrated systems

Specialised fl eets in niche markets throughout South, 

southern and east Africa

Newly-built OneLogix Logistics Hub, KwaZulu-Natal (see  

page 10) complements existing facilities nationally

ROI for investors End to end logistics Empowered staff Satisfi ed customers

Outputs

BUSINESS MODEL

Inputs

Capital raising and 

allocation
Balance sheet SHEQ Human resources

Acquisition and new 

business start-ups

Information 

technology
Finance Administration

Strategic direction 

and guidance

Local and 

cross-border 

auto-logistics

Project, 

abnormal and 

general freight 

logistics 

throughout 

South and 

southern Africa

Logistics for 

solvents, acid, 

food grade 

product, liquid 

petroleum, gas, 

cryogenics and 

dry bulk

Movement of 

general freight 

into and out of 

southern Africa

Top-end 

refrigerated 

logistics of 

agricultural 

products

Distribution of 

agricultural 

inputs and fi nal 

product

Repairs for 

commercial 

vehicles, 

structural 

chassis 

repairs, cab 

rebuilds and 

specialised 

spray painting

Import and 

export 

warehouse 

handling and 

clearing and 

forwarding 

activity

Activities
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FY17 STRATEGY SCORECARD

To be at the forefront of providing world-class 

logistics and related services to the entire southern 

and east Africa region

Customer base growth and 

diversifi cation

¡  Achieved across the board albeit that certain customer segments lowered spend given 

poor economic conditions.

Anticipation and early 

fulfi lment of future 

customer needs

¡  Completed Denne Road (Brakpan) development:

  –   new head office facility for OneLogix Linehaul;

  –   upgraded OneLogix Projex Gauteng depot;

  –   new Atlas360 storage facility; and

  –   improved turnaround capacity for OneLogix United Bulk.

¡  Expanded fleet capability at Jackson and Buffelshoek to further entrench footprint in South 

and southern African agricultural markets.

¡  Expanded OneLogix United Bulk’s specialist fleet in Cryogenic, LPG and Bulk Liquid 

markets.

¡  Further expanded OneLogix Projex capabilities in hazardous chemical, agricultural and 

consumer goods markets and updated fleet.

¡  Established clearing and forwarding business within OneLogix Cargo Solutions.

¡  Established OneLogix Auto Repair for mobile sophisticated cosmetic vehicle repairs at 

Durban OEM facilities, to complement OneLogix VDS’ pre-delivery inspection and Data Dot 

facilities at the group’s KZN Logistics Hub.

¡  Acquired and integrated Car Carriers Africa into OneLogix VDS enhancing customer base, 

fleet and staffing capabilities.

¡  Expanded ISO and related formal quality standards throughout the group.

Maintain individual business 

status as sector preferred 

supplier (through consistent 

service excellence)

¡  Relentless focus on retaining and expanding customer base of all group companies.

¡  Strong focus on improving customer service.

¡  Unyielding control of costs throughout the group.

Organic growth

¡  Further advanced the popular, recently introduced truck carrier option in OneLogix CVDS.

¡  QSA continued enhancing transport-related software programme in line with market 

demand.

¡  Continued to realise efficiencies throughout the group to maintain cost competitiveness in 

prevailing economy.

FY17 target FY17 progress
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FACING OUR RISKS HEAD-ON

Material issue Risk

Mitigation (see FY17 strategy scorecard 

above)

Meeting and exceeding customers’ 

expectations

¡  Loss of key customers

¡  Revenue loss

¡  Sustain an intimate understanding of the 

group’s markets 

¡  Constantly monitor the nature and dynamics of 

each market

¡  Ensure the best possible value proposition for 

the market 

¡  Continually evaluate new opportunities in 

existing and new markets

Anticipating customers’ future needs ¡  Loss of key customers

¡  Long-term sustainability of the group

¡  Leverage the group’s entrepreneurial skills

¡  Encourage creative approaches to existing and 

new market opportunities

¡  Reward innovative responses to challenges

Understanding the dynamics of the 

competitive landscape

¡  Loss of key customers

¡  Loss of competitive advantage

As above

The implications of State-driven 

initiatives

¡  Inappropriate response to 

government’s road-to-rail initiatives

As above

All-round operational efficiencies 

(including excellence in financial 

management)

Loss of competitive edge due to: 

¡  Margin squeeze;

¡  Incorrect pricing;

¡  Fraud; and

¡  Corruption.

¡  Striving for operational excellence

¡  Thoroughly understand business processes 

and cost structures, enabling sustainable and 

competitive pricing options

¡  Continually review operations with a view to 

increasing productivity

¡  Integrate newly acquired or newly established 

companies into the OneLogix operational 

system efficiently and productively

¡  Maintain an appropriately motivated, skilled, 

competent and value driven workforce

Developing an appropriate supplier 

network

¡  Sustainable business inputs ¡  Striving for clarity on input requirements

¡  Understand options

¡  Build relationships via clear communication
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FACING OUR RISKS HEAD-ON (continued)

Material issue Risk

Mitigation (see FY17 strategy scorecard 

above)

Developing and maintaining high 

calibre staff

¡  Loss of key staff

¡  Succession planning

¡  Developing leadership and people

¡  Continually focus on maintaining a high 

performance culture

¡  Maintain and enhance the entrepreneurial 

attitude of management and staff 

¡  Provide opportunities for people development 

and related recognition and reward

¡  Ensure a functionally efficient ethos of 

teamwork

¡  Create an enabling culture based on a clear 

value system 

Sustained growth of group 

businesses

¡  Protection of business core strength ¡  Ensure that business models are individually 

resilient and sustainable

¡  Identify and maintain competitive advantages

¡  Maintain a healthy financial position for all 

companies

¡  Ensure responsible and safe operations

¡  Regulatory compliance

¡  Protect reputation

¡  Ensure positive stakeholder relationships

¡  Develop an empowering culture 

¡  Retain skilled people

¡  Focus intently on customer service

¡  Foster a workforce centred on excellence 

Sourcing suitable acquisitions ¡  Ineffective merger and acquisition 

strategy hampering growth

¡  Market intelligence

¡  A suitable acquisition model
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CEO’S REPORT

I must once again make mention of the strong and committed 

management teams who remain in place throughout the group. 

They each have an unparalleled understanding of their respective 

markets, the associated dynamics and how best to realise delivery 

of sustainable services in those contexts. Their interaction with 

Head Offi ce continues to be most effective and positive, resulting 

in quick, fl exible and informed responses at business level to 

emerging opportunities and trends. Our steady organic growth is 

attributable in large part to these teams.

While no major corporate activity was undertaken during the year, 

our proven methodology for sourcing, evaluating, closing and 

integrating acquisitions continued to refl ect in the way we were 

able to consolidate our platform in the year. Apart from generating 

additional and sustainable sources of revenue, the acquisition 

trail to date has purposefully diversifi ed the group away from our 

former reliance on the auto-logistics industry. Typically we have 

targeted a controlling interest in well-established entrepreneurial 

businesses that present a compelling value proposition for their 

customers. These businesses continue to be operated by the 

founding entrepreneurs in well-defi ned markets that complement 

and extend the reach of our existing offering. During the year two 

small acquisitions were concluded in the auto-logistics market to 

expand our offering to fulfi l specifi c demand.

Given that entrepreneurialism is at the core of the group, the 

success of new ventures set up in-house over the years is not 

surprising. During the year our latest such venture, the project-

Ian Lourens

CEO

The group continued to perform well in yet another year of diffi cult trading 

conditions. Our 10-year annual compound growth rate for trading profi t 

(17%), core HEPS (14%), net tangible asset value (24%) was driven 

almost entirely by organic growth in the year.
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related clearing and forwarding within OneLogix Cargo Solutions, 

joined the three prior successful start-ups – OneLogix CVDS, 

OneLogix Projex and OneLogix Linehaul. All three also performed 

well and have established themselves as important contributors 

to the group.

These three approaches to growth are connected by shared 

values, a common business ethos and of course, an 

entrepreneurial mindset, with strong centralised business 

controls. We intend to continue this modus operandi for the 

foreseeable future in light of its evident success.

Post year-end activity

Management successfully devised a number of strategic plans 

during the year. Two of these were realised post year-end: the sale 

of our minority equity interest in DriveRisk for R65 million; and the 

sale and leaseback of the OneLogix Logistics Hub in KwaZulu-

Natal which realised R240 million. 

By disposing of essentially non-core assets, we have substantially 

deleveraged our balance sheet, grown a substantial cash pile to 

be utilised for future growth opportunities and materially improved 

our BEE ownership credentials with the sale to majority black-

owned entities.

Operational review

Abnormal Logistics

OneLogix VDS generally traded in line with last year, a good 

achievement given the increasingly competitive vehicle delivery 

market which has consistently contracted over the past three 

and a half years. It retains its market leading position thanks to 

a cost-effective and quality service backed by extensive 

storage facilities around the country and an additional option 

for pre-delivery and auxiliary services. OneLogix VDS is a 

mature business in a mature market and remains pressured by 

margin squeeze from the OEMs. In the last quarter of the year 

OneLogix VDS took advantage of an attractive market 

rationalisation activity and acquired a small cross-border 

operator.

OneLogix CVDS retained its leadership position in the commercial 

vehicle storage and movement market, while subject to the 

ongoing pressures of a contracting market. Its excellent near 

100% service delivery standard continues unabated and the 

recently introduced and innovative truck carrier option has been 

vindicated by market demand.

OneLogix Projex was directly hit by a poor economy and 

experienced declining project cargo moving through the Durban 

In the last quarter of the year 

OneLogix VDS took advantage of 

an attractive market rationalisation 

activity and acquired a small cross-

border operator.

port. The newly developed Gauteng depot in Brakpan is now 

fully operational and has proven to enhance productivity. 

Management has further exhibited its foresight by successfully 

extending its service offering into markets related to its core 

business.

Primary Product Logistics

OneLogix United Bulk continues to trade well as a signifi cant 

contributor to group earnings. The business has benefi ted from 

synergies realised from recent acquisitions and investment in 

fl eet.

OneLogix Linehaul experienced a diffi cult year and traded down 

in line with a depressed southern African market.

OneLogix Group Integrated annual report 2017

25



CEO’S REPORT (continued)

Jackson traded well in harsh conditions including the worst 

drought in 30 years, which was only slightly ameliorated by late 

summer rain. This is testament to a strong and motivated team 

that has proven to be adaptable to margin pressure and has 

worked hard to retain its reputation in the top-end logistics of 

agricultural products in South and southern Africa. A large portion 

is export orientated.

Buffelshoek, our other agricultural operator, traded as expected 

in the contracting agricultural market. A profi table and sustainable 

foray into the industrial minerals market is a promising result of 

management’s fl exible and innovative adaptation to a demanding 

environment.

Other – Logistics Services

Atlas360 continued its pleasing turnaround by refocusing on 

commercial truck repairs, its area of strength and leadership, 

including warranty repairs for leading brands within the country.

OneLogix Cargo Solutions also produced pleasing results. The 

recent establishment of a focused project-related clearing and 

forwarding activity has taken root in a tough market, and together 

with the more established import and export warehousing service, 

ensures that the company remains a signifi cant component of the 

overall group offering.

QSA represents a small strategic investment by the group aimed 

at securing an IT advantage. At present, earnings contribution is 

small while we continue to align and improve the product offering 

according to market needs.

Our only minority shareholding in DriveRisk was sold post year-

end for R65 million, as mentioned above.

Sustainability

OneLogix has a long track record of building sustainable 

businesses, which would not be possible if the concerns of our 

stakeholders were not integral to how we conduct our business.

We do our best to defi ne and action our group as a good corporate 

citizen, by being mindful of the broader implications of our 

decisions while managing the delicate balance with the interests 

of our shareholders.

Wealth creation is a critical measure for our survival and the 

ongoing support of our stakeholders. We are happy that we have 

achieved this in a meaningful way since the establishment and 

listing of OneLogix on the JSE. 

Challenges to our growth drivers

I’ve explained below the challenges that do, and should, keep us 

awake at night, which is undoubtedly expected of a business 

looking to sustain and grow.

We remain vigilant in evaluating the risks and opportunities in 

government’s intention to upgrade the country’s rail infrastructure. 

We are confi dent that road-based logistics solutions, especially 

those offered by the OneLogix group, will retain their central role 

in the economic growth of our country and broader southern 

Africa region. As we’ve always maintained, the challenge will be to 

timeously adapt with appropriate initiatives to retain our leadership 

position in this arena.

Our new OneLogix Logistics Hub (Umlaas Road) represents such 

a response, since a rail siding provision has been incorporated 

into the layout and construction. One step further, we have held 

discussions with Transnet and are reasonably optimistic that the 
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Hub will feature in its thinking around movement of vehicles out of 

the congested Durban port.

As mentioned in prior reports and throughout this one, the group’s 

previous disproportionate reliance on earnings from VDS and 

CVDS has been systematically reduced by way of purposeful and 

strategic acquisitions as well as in-house start-ups. This process 

continued into the year under review (see above).

Many of the group’s companies are generally moving into mature 

lifecycle phases, which in turn demands particular responses 

from the entrepreneurially-oriented leadership. Margin squeeze, 

particularly at VDS and Projex, represents one such challenge 

and is being met head-on and factored into forward-looking 

planning.

We also recognise the importance of continually enhancing our 

central business control processes. This process advances 

incrementally every year and the group is now in its strongest 

process position in this regard in history.

How we are moving forward

I am confi dent that the resilience of the group is in capable 

management hands. As we have always maintained, our 

management team’s underlying entrepreneurial strength has and 

continues to come to the fore in fi nding new revenue opportunities 

and more profi table operating procedures, anticipating future 

trends and speedily implementing internal adaptations.

Thanks to our management teams’ capabilities we have excellent 

general fi nancial management systems, particularly strong 

working capital management, tested business systems, a solid 

operational focus, an innovative mindset and a professional 

We are confi dent that road-based 

logistics solutions, especially those 

offered by the OneLogix group, will 

retain their central role in the economic 

growth of our country and broader 

southern Africa region.

interaction with all our stakeholders, particularly staff and 

customers.

In the year ahead we will continue to pursue organic growth. In 

addition, the fact that we make decisions quickly and generate 

strong cash fl ows will enable us to continue pursuing earnings-

enhancing acquisitions of quality operators in well-defi ned 

logistics niches.

My thanks

As always we remain highly appreciative of our quality 

management teams and staff. Our network of suppliers, business 

advisors, business partners, shareholders and particularly our 

customers deserve our thanks too. I extend my heartfelt thanks to 

all roleplayers in our ongoing growth.

Ian Lourens

CEO

24 August 2017
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CFO’S REPORT 

Financial results

Revenue increased by 12% to just under R2 billion. 

Trading profi t was up 7% to R161,3 million. Growth was 

constrained by a once-off charge of R4,4 million relating to the 

retrenchment costs incurred by VDS. Excluding the retrenchment 

costs, trading profi t would have been R165,7 million, which 10% 

year-on-year growth more closely mirrors top-line growth.

As in the prior reporting period, trading profi t was also 

impacted by a R15,7 million charge relating to our ongoing 

skills upliftment programme. The vast majority of this charge 

will be recovered by learnership allowances afforded by SARS. 

This has contributed to the effective tax charge of 23,7% on 

profi t for the year. 

Trading margins, excluding the retrenchment costs, remained 

resilient and were slightly down at 8,3% relative to the previous 

year at 8,5%.

Current year profi t was impacted positively by a reduced non-cash 

fl ow, IFRS 2 share-based payment charge of R10,6 million (2016: 

R15,2 million) for our management and employee participation 

schemes. Changes to assumptions around the core HEPS 

performance condition decreased the management participation 

scheme charge. 

Operating profi t increased by 9% from R135,8 million to 

R148,1 million.

Geoff Glass

CFO

During this past year 

revenue grew by 12% 

to just under R2 billion and trading 

profi t was up 7% to R161,3 million.

Operating profi t increased 

9% from R135,8 million to 

R148,6 million.
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Net fi nance costs increased by 20% to R57,6 million as a result of 

the group’s recent considerable investments in property 

infrastructure, acquisitions and fl eet. Interest cover on trading 

profi t of 2,9 times (May 2016: 3,1 times), excluding the once-off 

retrenchment costs, remains within our targeted levels. However, 

we remain mindful of gearing levels in the context of the prevailing 

trading climate when making further investment decisions. 

The sales of the Umlaas Road properties and our DriveRisk 

investment (see “post year-end events”) are regarded as 

“decidedly probable” in terms of the accounting standards. 

On the statement of fi nancial position, the respective carrying 

values of our investment in DriveRisk and the Umlaas Road  

properties, are included under “non-current assets held-

for-sale” and liabilities directly related to the Umlaas Road 

properties are included under “non-current liabilities held-for-

sale”. Of the balance of R256,4 million relating to non-current 

assets held-for-sale, R223,3 million relates to the Umlaas Road 

properties and R33,2 million to DriveRisk.

During the year owner-occupied properties were revalued 

by independent valuers in line with the group’s accounting 

policy to revalue properties on a triennial basis. The fair values 

as determined resulted in an increase in the carrying value 

of properties by R18,0 million, with an after tax impact of 

R14,0 million recognised in other comprehensive income.

Earnings per share (“EPS”) increased 12% while headline earnings 

per share (“HEPS”) was 15% higher for the year. EPS and HEPS, 

excluding the once-off retrenchment costs, would have increased 

by 16% and 20%, respectively. 

Core HEPS and diluted core HEPS increased by 7% and 8%, 

respectively, to 36,9 cents per share. Core HEPS and diluted core 

HEPS, excluding the once-off retrenchment costs, would have 

increased by 10% and 12%, respectively. 

A reconciliation of headline earnings to core headline earnings 

is provided in the fi nancial results. There was no dilutionary 

effect on core HEPS for the year as the volume weighted 

average share price was below the consideration due from the 

employee participation schemes, to which potential dilution in 

issued ordinary shares relates. There was no dilutionary effect 

on EPS and HEPS for the year as there are no dilutionary 

instruments in issue.

Cash generated from operations pre net fi nance costs, tax and 

dividends increased 16% to R303,9 million. This refl ects the 

continuing ability of the organisation to translate profi ts into cash 

and the continued strong focus on working capital management. 

The group invested R230,5 million in operational infrastructure 

as follows: R188,3 million in fl eet (of which R131,5 million relates 

to expansion), R27,4 million in property, R11,8 million for other 

assets and R3 million in IT-related assets. Net proceeds of 

R20,3 million were received on the disposal of fl eet. 

New interest-bearing borrowings of R160,9 million were raised to 

fund fl eet fi nancing, offset by the repayment of interest-bearing 

borrowings of R195,4 million. Net cash resources at the reporting 

date amounted to R95 million. Net debt of R522,3 million at 

31 May 2017 (including debt related to the disposal of Umlaas 

Road properties) was slightly less than the R531,1 million at 

31 May 2016. Net debt, excluding debt relating to the disposal of 

Umlaas Road properties, amounts to R365,9 million.

Net debt (excluding debt related to the disposal of Umlaas 

Road properties) to ordinary shareholders’ equity has reduced 

signifi cantly to 46% from 74%.

Recent investments in properties, acquisitions and fl eet have 

substantially increased the size of OneLogix’s operations 

and constant evaluation of performance in market context is 

paramount to determining future investments.

Dividend

Shareholders are advised that a fi nal gross dividend, No. 7, of 

5 cents per share in respect of the year ended 31 May 2017, was 

declared on 24 August 2017. This results in an annual dividend of 

13 cents per share, comprising an interim dividend of 8 cents per 

share together with the fi nal dividend.

This is a dividend as defi ned in the Income Tax Act, 1962, and is 

payable from income reserves. The South African dividends tax 

(“DT”) rate is 20%. The net dividend payable to shareholders who 

are subject to DT is 4 cents per share, while it is 5 cents per share 

for those shareholders who are exempt from DT. The income tax 

reference number of the company is 9361229710.

At the declaration date, the issued share capital, excluding 

treasury shares held in relation to the Employee and Management 

Share participation schemes, was 251 946 289 ordinary shares of 

no par value. 
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CFO’S REPORT (continued)

The salient dates in respect of the fi nal dividend are as follows:

2017

Last day to trade cum dividend Tuesday, 3 October

Shares will trade ex dividend Wednesday, 4 October

Record date Friday, 6 October

Payment of dividend Monday, 9 October

The fi nal dividend, amounting to R12,6 million, has not been 

recognised as a liability in the consolidated fi nancial statements. 

It will be recognised in shareholders’ equity for the year ending 

31 May 2018. 

It is the group’s preference to continue declaring a dividend. 

However, future dividends will continue to be evaluated in the 

context of prevailing trading, infrastructural and related business 

demands facing the company.

Post year-end events

Further to previous SENS announcements, we have now reached 

an agreement for the disposal of our 49% shareholding in 

DriveRisk to a 51% black-owned consortium. We will realise 

R65 million from this particularly successful investment.

As also previously announced, we have restructured our 

position with respect to the Umlaas Road properties in 

KwaZulu-Natal (subject to regulatory approvals), and will 

shortly realise its sale to and leaseback from a 51% black-

owned consortium. The consideration payable for the 

property is R240 million in cash. This initiative has made 

available capital to be deployed into higher returning 

investments in line with our proven conservative investment 

strategy and significantly deleveraged our statement of 

financial position. The disposal proceeds will be applied first 

to reduce debt with the balance being used to fund future 

growth opportunities and investments. It is anticipated that 

the effective date will be 15 September 2017.

Geoff Glass

CFO

24 August 2017

OneLogix Group Integrated annual report 2017

PERFORMANCE REVIEW
30



OUR PEOPLE

“Our people, our success” is a phrase often used by management in communicating with 

stakeholders. The common understanding across the group is that in order to give full effect to our 

business strategy, it must be personally owned, modifi ed if necessary, and implemented consistently 

by all our people. Unsurprisingly, HR is therefore an important element in the management mix.

OneLogix employs 1 886 permanent staff (2016: 1 941) and 607 temporary staff (2016: 471). The latter includes 338 black disabled youth 

temporarily employed by the group in accordance with its Nkomazi and Cape Town Learnership Programme. (The staff numbers include 

foreign nationals employed by the company and exclude the DriveRisk staff as the group had a minority stake in this company in the 

year – which has now been sold.)

The HR Department follows an approach, driven by the group’s values, comprising:

Strategic HR management Talent management

Training and development Performance management

HR Risk management Staff well being

HR service delivery HR technology

Organisational development Workforce planning

HR measurements Remuneration management

Culture Staff relations
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OUR PEOPLE (continued)

The company complies fully with all Department of Labour information submission requirements, the more pertinent of which are listed 

below:

Breakdown of staff per company

Total 2 493 (2016: 2 412)

¡  OneLogix Head Offi ce 

¡  OneLogix VDS 

¡  OneLogix CVDS 

¡  OneLogix Projex 

¡  OneLogix United Bulk 

¡  OneLogix Linehaul 

¡  OneLogix Jackson 

¡  OneLogix Buffelshoek 

¡  Atlas360 

¡  OneLogix Cargo 

Solutions 

¡¡  Employees in 

learnership programmes

Workforce by gender (excluding foreign nationals) Foreign nationals employed by the group

Male

78,9%
(2016: 86,5%)

Female

21,1% 

(2016: 13,5%)

South African

95,7%
(2016: 95,4%)

Foreign

4,3%
(2016: 4,6%)

Gender inequality within the group remains a very practical challenge, since the nature of 

activities is biased towards a traditionally strong male orientation, such as qualifi ed heavy 

duty truck drivers and maintenance technicians. Notwithstanding these constraints, the 

group has made some progress in rectifying the gender imbalance during the year by way 

of a female predominance in the employee learnership programme.

1,5%

28,8%

12,1%

6,1%
18,4%

3,2%

7,8%

3,9%

3,6%
1,2%

13,4%

OneLogix Group Integrated annual report 2017

PERFORMANCE REVIEW
32



Resignations and terminations

Male Female Foreign nationals

Occupation levels A C I W A C I W Male Female Total

Top management – – – 2 – – – – – – 2
Senior management 1 – – 2 – – – – – – 3
Professionals – – – 5 – – – 1 – – 6
Skilled technical 48 3 – 26 – – 1 6 7 – 91
Semi-skilled 140 24 4 23 10 7 3 11 1 1 224
Unskilled 11 7 – – 1 1 – – – – 20

Total permanent 200 34 4 58 11 8 4 18 – 1 346
Temporary employees 116 12 3 15 117 5 – 2 4 – 274

Total 316 46 7 73 128 13 4 20 4 1 620

A =  African   C =  Coloured   I =  Indian   W =  White

Blacks remain the major racial group employed by the company at an extent on par with last year (2016: 74,5%). Coloureds have shown 

an increase from 6,2% in 2016 to the present 7,7%, while white staff now constitute 15,8%, down from 16,8% last year.

The group’s social and ethics committee monitors the implementation of employment policies appropriate to the business environment, 

market and South African landscape. The policies are designed to attract, motivate and retain quality staff at all levels.

Staff turnover

Male Female

OneLogix Group terminations A C I W A C I W Total

Dismissed 98 9 4 1 3 1 1 1 118
Deceased 4 – – – 1 – – – 5
Pensioned 9 – – 2 – – – 2 13
Absconded 31 4 – 5 2 – – 1 43
Resigned 43 – 2 21 5 4 4 6 85
Transferred 32 – 1 3 1 1 – 3 41
Retrenched 18 4 – 8 – 2 – 7 39
Illness 4 1 – 2 – – – – 7
Contract end 110 29 1 6 117 5 – 1 269

Total 349 47 8 48 129 13 5 21 620

A =  African   C =  Coloured   I =  Indian   W =  White

Workforce by ethnicity

Black

74,1%
Coloured

7,7%
Indian

2,4%
White

15,8%
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OUR PEOPLE (continued)

Staff turnover in terms of voluntary resignations is substantially 

down from last year to 85 (2016: 112).

Minimum notice periods are determined by the employment 

period as follows:

¡  Less than six months – one week;

¡  Six to twelve months – two weeks;

¡  More than one year – one month; and

¡  Senior positions – as individually negotiated.

Dismissals for the year are also substantially down, from 160 to 

118. Generally dismissals can be explained by the group’s fi rm but 

fair disciplinary procedures. We continue to work on improving 

employment criteria to ensure the appropriate candidates are 

appointed at the start, thereby reducing the need for subsequent 

disciplinary action.

Staff benefi ts

Full time staff are granted access to medical aid schemes via 

leading service providers at statutory rates. Typically, staff receive 

the benefi t of unconditional acceptance (such as no waiting 

periods, generous consideration on exclusions and no late joining 

fee penalties). Staff also have access to life assurance with 

leading service providers, together with a company funded 

scheme, all of which provide three times (and in one instance four 

times) annual salary at death and in the event of total and 

permanent disability.

In addition, the 28% of staff not covered by industry-specifi c 

collective main agreements are provided a provident fund 

administered by leading service providers. Newly acquired 

companies, in certain instances, retain their original provident 

fund arrangements. However, the group is making good 

progress in ensuring that this becomes standardised in one 

central OneLogix scheme. At present, for the greater majority 

of the group companies, OneLogix contributes 9% of 

pensionable salary with the staff member contributing a 

voluntary percentage of 0% to 9%. The fund administrator 

costs are paid by OneLogix and the fund further includes a 

family funeral benefi t.

Staff covered by the industry-specifi c collective main agreement 

contribute to a provident fund as follows:

Bargaining 
Council 
contribution

Group
company

Employee
 contribution

Company 
contribution

Motor Ferry VDS

CVDS 10% 10%

Road Freight Projex

Linehaul

United Bulk

Jackson

Buffelshoek

Cargo Solutions 10% 10%

Motor Industry Atlas360 7,5% 8%

Further, staff have access to a staff bursary scheme which 

contributes some 95% of study costs. There is also a bursary 

scheme for children of staff, to which OneLogix generally 

contributes 50% of study costs.

In the year the staff bursary scheme totalled approximately 

R272 000 (2016: R323 000) and funding was utilised as follows:

Company
Number 
of staff

VDS 13

CVDS 1

OneLogix Projex 1

Atlas360 1

Total 16

OneLogix Group Integrated annual report 2017

PERFORMANCE REVIEW
34



Course Male Female

Degrees
MBA 1 –

Diplomas
Bus Mgt 1 1
Transport Mgt 1 2
Fin Mgt – 1
Office Assist – 2
Public Relations – 1
Supply Chain Mgt – 1
Adv Fork Lift 1 –
Senior Bookkeeping – 1
IT 2 1

Total 6 10

The bursary scheme for children of staff totalled approximately 

R1 436 000 (2016: R1 324 000) and was utilised as follows:

Company
Number 
of staff

OneLogix Head Office 11
OneLogix VDS 185
OneLogix CVDS 18
OneLogix Projex 5
OneLogix United Bulk 21
OneLogix Linehaul 51
Jackson 19
OneLogix Cargo Solutions 3
Atlas360 4

Total 317

Course
Number 

of children

Schooling 288
Degrees (including MBA, BSc, BCom, BA) 10
Diplomas (including Bus Admin, Mgt) 19

Total 317

Skills development and training 

The group’s skills development and training objectives include to:

¡  Develop and empower staff;

¡  Improve productivity and quality of work;

¡  Assist in creating a strong core of skilled and professional 

people;

¡  Assist in career pathing and self-development; and

¡  Address the skills scarcity in the country.

Formal training courses presented to staff and prospective staff 

during the year included:

1. Professional Driving Learnership NQF 3

  The duration of the learnership is 12 months for 20 unemployed 

learners. The qualifi cation is designed to provide accredited 

theoretical classroom training and on-the-job training hosted 

by a group company. On completion, the learners take 

possession of a Code 14 driver’s licence together with related 

skills which are expected of a responsible driver in the 

logistics industry.

2. Business Practice Learnership NQF 1 

  This learnership forms a substantial part of the group’s skills 

development initiative. Commencing in June 2015 and 

continuing through this year, 338 unemployed and disabled 

learners (274 from the rural Nkomazi region of Mpumalanga 

and 64 from the greater Cape Town area) received basic 

modern business practice skills over a 12-month period. The 

group uses its best endeavours to arrange employment for 

the learners on graduation, either within OneLogix or within 

our peers. Post June 2017 the group plans to continue with 

this initiative.

3.  Other staff training in matters such as Basic Fire Fighting, 

First Aid, Working at Heights, Excel, Health and Safety and 

Customs Clearing.
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OUR IMPACTS

Conducting our business with respect 

and care for the people and the 

environment

Complying, as a minimum, with all the 

applicable regulatory requirements

Continually improving our SHEQ 

performance

Promoting dialogue with all stakeholders 

about our ESG performance

At OneLogix we are committed to reaching a well-reasoned balance between the various 

ESG demands. Accordingly, we are committed to:

Employees

CustomersSuppliers

Shareholders/
investors

Stakeholders

OneLogix Group Integrated annual report 2017

PERFORMANCE REVIEW
36



Stakeholder engagement 

Finding out what matters to our key stakeholders is not a matter of corporate etiquette and best practice alone, but of commercial 

necessity. We are genuinely interested on a human level but importantly also on a business and strategic level. OneLogix does not 

operate in a vacuum and we are acutely aware that understanding our impacts on our stakeholders, and vice versa, is one of the key 

drivers of a sustainable strategy.

What matters to them How we find this out Our response

E
m

p
lo

ye
es ¡  Job security

¡  Clear communication of 

expectations

¡  Career and personal 

development

¡  Reward for excellent 

performance

¡  Zero discrimination

¡  Transparent and regular 

communication

¡  Quality work environment

¡  Health and safety

¡  Individual performance reviews

¡  Regular formal and informal interaction

¡  Regular formal job satisfaction and 

cultural climate surveys

¡  Training sessions

¡  Promotion preference from within group

¡  Staff share participation scheme implemented 

in 2015

¡  Increased investment in skills and personal 

development and training

¡  Group bursary scheme for staff (and their 

children)

¡  Monthly newsletter

¡  Driver Imbizos which facilitate joint 

addressing of appropriate issues

¡  Regular meeting with unions and non-

unionised staff

¡  Constant internal discussions with staff to 

reinforce company culture, Code of Conduct, 

policies and procedures

¡  Open door policy

¡  Ongoing health, wellness and safety 

programmes

C
us

to
m

er
s ¡  Excellent service delivery

¡  Quality

¡  Reliability

¡  Resolution of problems

¡  Competitive pricing

¡  Communication

Maintain healthy and professional 

relationships via:

¡  clear service contracts;

¡  involvement of senior staff;

¡  regular face-to-face meetings;

¡  email updates and systems interaction;

¡  general availability of staff; 

¡  events; and

¡  annual customer surveys.

¡  Strong focus on customer service

¡  Constant monitoring of relationship by all 

senior management

¡  Ongoing two-way communication

¡  Company and product brochures

S
up

p
lie

rs ¡  Clear communication of 

expectations

¡  Clarity around delivery 

requirements

¡  Adherence to payment terms

¡  Communication on future 

direction of the company

¡  Contracts and service agreements

¡  Meetings and workshops

¡  Training

¡  Events

¡  Professional relationships that ensure 

impartiality and no corruption

¡  Regular communication with appropriate staff 

including senior management

¡  Timeous payment and fair business practice

¡  Focus on suitably qualified BEE operations

S
ha

re
ho

ld
er

s/
in

ve
st

o
rs ¡  Financial performance 

(including ability to service 

debt, solvency and liquidity)

¡  Sustainable growth/returns

¡  Company reputation

¡  Communication

¡  Results presentations

¡  General meetings

¡  Site visits

¡  Road shows

¡  Regular 1:1 meetings

¡  JSE showcases

¡  Access to executive management team

¡  Engagement with financial media

¡  Ongoing engagement and communication

¡  Management and staff share participation 

schemes launched in 2015

¡  Annual and interim reports

¡  SENS announcements

¡  Comprehensive website
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OUR IMPACTS (continued)

The environment

OneLogix is cognisant of the impact that the group has on the 

environment and has actively implemented energy-saving initiatives 

across the board. Our focus on continually improving operating 

effi ciencies has a clear congruence with environmental best practice.

The group’s procurement policy bears this out, as a central tenet 

is to engage suppliers with a proven ability to cost-effectively 

supply the most advanced environmentally friendly product; and 

recycle used product in accordance with current industry 

environmental standards.

Chemical products within the group are monitored and only 

cleaning materials with acceptable specifi cations are used. In 

addition, wherever possible, spray booths capture solvent and oil 

waste product and wash-bays’ effl uent is channelled to separate 

waste, oil and water. Our bulk tanker wash-bays meet all 

environmental specifi cations. At the new OneLogix Logistics Hub, 

water used at the truck workshop, pre-delivery inspection 

facilities and in showers and toilets is recycled to approximate a 

90% recovery. Similarly at Pomona a water recycling system, 

including harvesting of rain water, is now fully operational.

Other areas of focus include fuel and oil spillage, wastage and 

theft. Storage tanks are purposefully designed to minimise 

spillage and limit ground pollution. Again, the new OneLogix 

Logistics Hub has installed latest technology fuel tanks that are 

particularly environmentally friendly.

Fuel effi ciency processes have been introduced to the various 

group companies over the years and include specialist metrics for 

diesel usage per truck as well as information on fuel consumption 

per driver on a monthly basis. Further, the group’s internal driver 

training programmes ensure further controls relating to excessive 

idling and “green band” driving metrics. DriveRisk’s and DriveCam’s 

profi ling of driver behaviour is also helpful in this regard. 

With respect to our vehicles, almost all used tyres are returned to 

suppliers for recycling purposes and no asbestos products are 

accepted when replacing brake shoes and clutch plates.

In terms of recycling, other materials such as used batteries are all 

returned to suppliers with the ability to recycle, scrap metal is sold 

to approved scrap dealers and scrap paper is sold to recycling 

organisations.

To conserve electricity, electrical equipment and appliances are 

switched off at night wherever appropriate and environmentally 

effi cient equipment is used whenever possible. At the VDS 

Pomona premises, a second phase deployment of 140 x 250W 

solar panels with an additional 25kVA grid tied inverter has been 

installed to complement the 100 x 250W solar panels installed last 

year. Eighty such solar panels together with environmentally 

effi cient equipment have also been installed at the recently 

completed Denne Road premises resulting in a saving of up to 

50% of anticipated electricity consumption. The group plans to 

further roll out this type of cost saving throughout the group. 

SHEQ

The OneLogix group complies with the South African Occupational 

Health and Safety Act, 85 of 1993.

As reported last year, the group companies have undergone a 

rigorous gap audit by a recognised third party, and implementation 

of improvements in the year is summarised below:

Group certifi cation status

External audits conducted

ISO 9001

¡  United Bulk surveillance audits – October 2016

¡  VDS surveillance audits – February and March 2017

¡  CVDS surveillance audits – May and June 2017

SQAS (Safety and Quality Assessment System)

¡  United Bulk Worcester and Vereeniging recertifi ed – September 

2016 and July 2016, respectively

¡  United Bulk Vanderbijlpark recertifi ed – May 2017

RTMS

¡  VDS recertifi ed – August 2016

¡  CVDS recertifi ed – August 2016

¡  Projex Durban recertifi ed – December 2016

¡  United Bulk Vanderbijlpark certifi ed – June 2017

ISO 14001

¡  VDS surveillance audit – February and March 2017

¡  CVDS stage one audit – May and June 2017

OHSAS 18001

¡  VDS surveillance audit – February and March 2017

A number of external audits were also conducted by certain 

strategically important OneLogix customers. In order to verify 

compliance with their customer standards and general 

requirements.

Implementation in progress

¡  CVDS – ISO 14001

¡  Buffelshoek – SQAS

¡  Linehaul – SQAS
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A number of further external audits have been planned for the 

abovementioned companies.

Further, the last year saw additional focus on the investigation of 

accidents and identifying preventative and corrective actions. 

The results are pleasing and have delivered further impetus to an 

improved SHEQ management system. 

Injuries on duty reporting and associated preventative measures 

are also now well developed.

Supporting our communities

The various group companies support a range of deserving community projects within their respective 

geographic regions of infl uence, the more noteworthy of which are highlighted below:

Normal operational activities within the group also assist in 

improving the health and safety environment such as: 

implementation of driver behaviour (DriveCam) and driver fatigue 

management systems (DriveAlert) and the nature of the group’s 

driver management system which seeks to balance economic 

necessities with driver well-being.

Improvement areas identifi ed include matters such as risk 

assessments, SHEQ training, employee health and general SHEQ 

awareness and communication.

The largest community support project undertaken in 

the group is an OneLogix United Bulk initiative where 

the business has, for a number of years, acted as the 

host company for the Free State leg of the well-known 

“Rally to Read” programme. This is an annual event 

involving business and rural schools around the 

country, in terms of which convoys of off-road vehicles 

deliver educational material to remote and neglected 

rural areas. In order to ensure the sustainability of this 

initiative, the respected READ Educational Trust 

follows up with principals, teachers and children during 

the remainder of the year. 

OneLogix United Bulk’s annual contribution 

to this initiative is now well in excess of 

R350 000.

“Rally to Read”
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OUR IMPACTS (continued)

Head Offi ce supports a staff-initiated project known 

as The OneLogix Care Group, which aims to assist 

deserving staff members throughout the group. 

Funding takes the form of a monthly donation from the 

group, supplemented by donations of cash or product 

from concerned staff members. During this year funds 

were applied to replacing bedding, general linen, 

clothing and groceries for two staff members whose 

entire household contents were lost to fi res, assisting 

in the case of a special needs daughter of a staff 

member who was sexually abused, groceries for other 

staff who were struggling for various reasons as well 

as sourcing and coordinating a Mandela Day initiative 

which assisted a local primary school with stationery.

The OneLogix Care Group

Group companies participate in other structured 

initiatives. OneLogix United Bulk has been a generous 

sponsor of the Worcester Villagers Rugby Club for 

some time. The company also sponsors various golf 

days and other sporting activities within the Worcester 

community. OneLogix Projex (which now incorporates 

Madison) has been a contributor towards the well-

known Johnson Crane Hire marathon over the years. 

Various ad hoc assistance has also been forthcoming, 

such as assistance for an epilepsy foundation, a rhino 

protection programme and contributions towards 

physical infrastructure for needy schools, undertaken 

by OneLogix Projex and Buffelshoek in particular. 

Such contributions individually exceeded R250 000 for 

the year.

Other benefi ciaries
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Executive

Non-executive

Independent 

non-executive
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3

6

8

5

2
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1  Ian K Lourens (65) 
 CEO 

  BA (Hons), MBA

  Ian is the co-founder of PostNet and Cash 

Converters and was previously brand 

manager at Beecham and marketing 

manager at Hoechst. He is a former Mayor 

of Midrand and past Chairperson of the 

Franchise Association of southern Africa. 

Ian is a co-founder of OneLogix.

2  Neville J Bester (58)
  Neville founded VDS in 1988. He is currently 

the managing director of VDS. Neville also 

focuses on stakeholder engagement, 

acquisitions and general strategy. Neville is 

a co-founder of OneLogix.

3  Cameron V McCulloch (45) 
 COO 

  BCom, BAcc, CA(SA)

  A chartered accountant, Cameron was the 

group fi nancial manager at Pinnacle 

Technology Holdings before becoming a 

senior manager at PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Inc. He joined the group in 2002. Cameron 

previously held the position of FD, before 

being appointed COO in 2008. Cameron is 

a co-founder of OneLogix.

4  Geoffrey M Glass (42) 
 FD

  BCom Honours (Acc), CA(SA)

  A chartered accountant, Geoff was 

previously FD of Cargo Africa Group (a 

subsidiary of Imperial Holdings). 

  He joined OneLogix as FD in 2008.

5  Kgotso B Schoeman (53)
  BA Economics, Advanced Financial 

Management Diploma, Cambridge 

Advance Leadership Programme 

  Kgotso is currently CEO of Kagiso 

Capital, an investment company 

established by the Kagiso Trust. He has 

been involved with the Trust for over 

15 years and successfully managed its 

transition from being donor-dependent 

to becoming self-fi nanced. During this 

time he also led the design of strategic 

programmes for Kagiso Trust and partner 

organisations. Kgotso is a director of a 

number of private companies and a 

director of FirstRand Bank Limited.

6  Sipho M Pityana (58) 
 Chairman

  BA (Hons), MSc, Dtech (honoris causa)

  Sipho is the founder and Chairman of 

Izingwe Holdings. He is also chairman of 

the board of directors of the JSE listed 

AngloGold Ashanti, and a non-executive 

director of a number of manufacturing 

companies including Aberdare Cables 

where he is the Vice Chairman. He has 

previously served as chair of Munich 

Reinsurance of Africa, and also served on 

the boards of Bytes Technology Group, 

Afrox, Spescom and Scaw Metals; he also 

served on the Old Mutual Leadership 

Group. He previously worked as the 

Executive Director of Nedcor Investment 

Bank and a Managing Director at Nedbank. 

  In addition to his private sector track 

record, Mr Pityana has extensive public 

sector experience and international 

exposure. He was the fi rst Director 

General of the Department of Labour in a 

democratic South Africa. As the Foreign 

Affairs Director General he represented 

South Africa in various international fora 

including the United Nations, African 

Union, Common wealth and the 

International Labour Organisation. He was 

one of the founding members of the 

governing body of the Commission for 

Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration 

(“CCMA”) and Convenor of the South 

African government delegation to the 

National Economic Development and 

Labour Council (“NEDLAC”). He is the 

previous Chairperson of the National 

Students Financial Aid Scheme (“NSFAS”) 

and former Registrar of the University of 

Fort Hare. He is the chairperson of the 

Council for the Advancement of the South 

African Constitution (“CASAC”) and a 

Convenor of Save South Africa.

7  Lesego J Sennelo (39) 
  BCompt, BCom Hons (Accounting), 

CA(SA)

  Lesego serves as a non-executive 

director on a number of listed and 

unlisted boards. She is the President of 

the African Woman Chartered 

Accountants (“AWCA”) Forum and is a 

board member of the South African 

Institute of Chartered Accountants 

(“SAICA”).

8  Alec J Grant (69)
 Lead independent director 

  BCom, FCIS, CAIB, MBL 

  Alec has 35 years’ experience in banking 

and has held a senior executive position 

in the Barclays Group. Formerly he was 

also CEO and executive director of 

CorpCapital Bank and was a founder 

of Fulcrum Bank.

9  Bridgitte Mathews (48)
  CA(SA), HDip Tax

  A self-employed consultant, Bridgitte 

provides fi nancial and tax consulting 

services to clients in various industries 

and also acts as a facilitator, providing 

training in the risk, governance and 

banking sectors. She serves as an 

independent non-executive director of 

Suidwes Agriculture Group (RF) (Pty) Ltd 

and Agrinet (Pty) Ltd, and as the Chair of 

the audit and risk and IT committee; PSG 

Group Limited and PSG Financial 

Services Limited, where she also serves 

as a member of the audit and risk 

committee; Redefi ne Properties Limited 

where she is the Chair of the 

remuneration committee and also the 

Chair of the Board of Trustees of 

Redefi ne Empowerment Trust; Deputy 

Chair of ATKV NPC. Bridgitte is a 

member of the African Women Chartered 

Accountants (“AWCA”) and the Institute 

of Directors (“IOD”).
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EXECUTIVE TEAM

Back (left to right)

Karl Steyn, Athol Saunders, Morné Nel, Andre Niemand, Cameron McCulloch, Selwyn Dawson, Nadir Moosa, Dawid Joubert, 

Japie Britz

Middle (left to right)

Ronnie Robertson, Vincent Kaufman, Rockie Snell, Patrick Pols, Jacques du Randt, Johan Duvenhage, Louis Swart, Hein Swart

Front (left to right)

Dirk van der Zee, Neville Bester, Ian Lourens, Mitzi Vosloo, Geoff Glass
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OneLogix is committed to being a good corporate citizen and acting 

with the highest standards of ethical behaviour at all times

The board of directors is the ultimate guardian of the group’s values and ethics and in its own 

conduct strives to embody these to lead by example. It follows that the board aims to integrate 

these values and ethics into the company’s growth strategy in order to secure the sustainability of 

the group.

Adherence to ethics throughout the group is monitored through the Code of Conduct which all 

employees are required to adhere to.

The social and ethics committee, a statutory committee of the board, assists the board in this 

endeavour (see report on  page 58).

ETHICAL LEADERSHIP

45
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GOVERNANCE

CEO

Group 

HR

Internal 

Audit

Group 

IT

Group Finance 

and Admin

Group 

SHEQ

Group 

Risk

Group 

Procurement

COO FD

Abnormal Logistics Primary Product Logistics Other – Logistics Services

75%*

74%*

74%*

85%*

49%*

100%*

100%* 100%*

69,5%*

71,3%*

86,9%*

*  Percentage owned by OneLogix.
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The board

Executive directors Non-executive directors
Independent 

non-executive directors

} IK Lourens (CEO) } KB Schoeman } SM Pityana (Chairperson)

} GM Glass (FD) } B Mathews

} CV McCulloch (COO) } LJ Sennelo

} NJ Bester } AJ Grant

Committees

Audit and risk committee Remuneration committee Social and ethics committee

} AJ Grant (Chairperson) } LJ Sennelo (Chairperson) } LJ Sennelo (Chairperson)

} LJ Sennelo } B Mathews } IK Lourens

} B Mathews } AJ Grant } GM Glass

By invitation By invitation

} IK Lourens (CEO) } IK Lourens (CEO)

} GM Glass (FD) 

} CV McCulloch (COO)

Number of independent directors

3/3 3/3 1/3

The board completed a self-evaluation process and deemed the board to be fully functional. 
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GOVERNANCE (continued)

The board is fully committed to upholding the governance 

principles of responsibility, accountability, fairness and 

transparency. We appreciate that these principles are essential 

for good governance and are important to successful stakeholder 

engagement. The board members have chosen to also include 

discipline, independence and social responsibility as key 

constituents of sound corporate governance at OneLogix. The 

principles of sound corporate governance permeate the group 

with each employee expected to behave with integrity, honesty 

and fairness as led by the board.

The directors are cognisant that the key governance challenges 

lie in balancing fi nancial growth with community, environmental 

and broader economic and social development interests. All 

members of the board also recognise that governance principles 

and practices evolve, so OneLogix’s approach to governance is 

continually reviewed to embrace best practice. 

OneLogix has commenced application of King IV and application 

of these principles is set out on  page 53. Enhanced reporting in 

terms of King IV will be provided in the next integrated annual 

report.

The board

The board remains responsible and accountable for the 

performance of the group and has full control over all subsidiaries. 

The responsibilities of the chairman and CEO, and those of other 

non-executive and executive directors, are clearly separated to 

ensure a balance of power and prevent any one director from 

exercising unfettered powers of decision-making. The chairman 

provides leadership to the board in all deliberations ensuring 

independent input, and oversees its effi cient operation.

The CEO is responsible for proposing, updating, implementing 

and maintaining the strategic direction of OneLogix as well as 

ensuring appropriately supervised and controlled daily operations. 

In this regard, the CEO is assisted by the COO, fi nancial director 

and other executive directors. The independent non-executive 

directors are high merit individuals who contribute a wide range of 

industry skills, knowledge and experience to the board’s decision-

making process. These directors are not involved in the daily 

operations of the company.

Currently an informal evaluation of the independence of these 

directors is undertaken each year based on a formal annual 

declaration of interests to assess any changes.

In the past evaluation performed during the year, all independent 

non-executive directors were confi rmed to be independent.

Access to the advice and services of the company secretary and 

to company records, information, documents and property is 

unrestricted. Non-executive directors also have unfettered 

access to the external auditors and to management at any time. 

All directors are entitled, at the group’s expense, to seek 

independent professional advice on any matters concerning the 

affairs of the group.

The group’s memorandum of incorporation provides for one-third 

of the directors to retire by rotation annually or after a three-year 

term of offi ce. Accordingly, AJ Grant and B Mathews will retire by 

rotation at the upcoming annual general meeting and being 

eligible, will stand for re-election.

The board meets at least four times a year with ad hoc meetings 

when necessary to review strategy, planning, fi nancial 

performance, resources, operations, risk, capital expenditure, 

standards of conduct, transformation, diversity, employment 

equity, human resources and environmental management. 

Directors are briefed timeously and comprehensively in advance 

of board meetings with suffi cient information to enable them to 

effectively discharge their responsibilities. Meetings are 

conducted in accordance with a formal agenda and are chaired 

by a competent suitably qualifi ed and experienced chairperson, 

thus ensuring that all substantive matters are appropriately and 

timeously addressed. Meeting attendance for the year is set out 

on  page 49.

The board acts as the focal point for and custodian of the group’s 

corporate governance. In doing so it ensures that the group is a 

responsible corporate citizen, cognisant of the impact its 

operations may have on the environment and society in which it 

operates, while acting in accordance with the board charter as 

well as with its own approved code of conduct.

The purpose of the formal board charter is to regulate the 

parameters within which the board operates and to ensure 

the application of the principles of good corporate governance. 

The charter outlines the board’s primary function as determining 

the group’s strategy, purpose, values and stakeholders relevant 

to its business, and further defi nes the roles and responsibilities 

of the directors in accordance with legislation and global best 

practice.

To ensure that OneLogix is managed ethically and within prudently 

determined risk parameters in conformity with South African 

accepted standards of best practice, the board undertakes self-

evaluation exercises. 
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Board and committee meeting attendance

Board Audit and risk
Remune-

ration 
Social and 

ethics

23 August 

2016

24 November

2017

31 January

2017

24 May

2017

23 August

2016

31 January

2017

24 April

2017

24 April

2017

SM Pityana 

(Chairperson) P P P P n/a n/a n/a n/a

NJ Bester P P P P n/a n/a n/a n/a

GM Glass P P P P n/a P

AJ Grant P P P P P P P n/a

IK Lourens P P P P P

CV McCulloch P P P P n/a n/a

LJ Sennelo P P P P P P P P

B Mathews P P P P P P P n/a

K Schoeman P P P P n/a n/a n/a n/a

P    Attended O     Apology

    Attendance by invitation n/a   Not applicable

Share dealings and confl icts of interest

Directors are required to disclose their shareholdings, additional 

directorships and any potential confl icts of interest as well as any 

share dealings in the company’s securities to the chairman and 

CEO. The company secretary, together with the sponsor and 

fi nancial director, ensures publication of share dealings on SENS.

All directors, senior executives and prescribed offi cers with 

access to fi nancial and any other price sensitive information are 

prohibited from dealing in OneLogix shares during “closed 

periods”, as defi ned by the JSE, or while the company is trading 

under cautionary. The company secretary informs all directors 

and all other relevant employees by email when the company 

enters a “closed period”.

OneLogix assesses its directors’ interests in the group, their 

external shareholdings and any other directorships that they hold, 

on an annual basis to determine the existence of any actual or 

potential confl icts of interest. A register containing the directors’ 

declarations of interest is maintained by the company secretary 

and is available for inspection by any of the directors at any time. 

In addition, the agenda at each scheduled board meeting allows 

the board to consider any confl icts arising from changes to the 

directors’ declarations of interests.

The board has satisfi ed itself that no relationships currently exist 

which could adversely affect the classifi cation of its independent 

non-executive directors, and accordingly that the classifi cation of 

each such director is appropriate.

OneLogix Group Integrated annual report 2017

49



GOVERNANCE (continued)

Internal audit

The internal audit function is a key assurance provider in 

OneLogix’s combined assurance framework. BDO was appointed 

to conduct a fully outsourced internal audit function in the prior 

year. 

The executives and management as well as the internal audit 

department understand that the risk environment is of a dynamic 

nature and risk registers therefore need regular updating to 

allow the internal audit team to timeously address high-risk 

areas and provide real-time assurance in respect of the 

OneLogix internal control environment.

Throughout the year, the internal auditors had direct unfettered 

access to the group fi nancial director, his staff and members of the 

audit and risk committee, primarily through its chairman. The 

members of the board as well as the audit and risk committee are 

satisfi ed that the internal audit function is fully functional, operating 

effectively and addressing adequate and appropriate scope.

The internal audit function’s annual audit plan is revised annually 

and approved by the audit and risk committee. Subsequent to 

year-end, the entity has established their own internal audit 

department.

Audit and risk committee

The audit and risk committee meets at least twice during the 

year and the external auditors, internal auditors, CEO, fi nancial 

director and COO attend meetings by invitation. The committee 

remains responsible for ensuring that the company’s internal 

audit function is independent and has the necessary resources, 

standing and authority to enable it to discharge its duties. In 

addition, it remains responsible for assessing the performance 

of the internal audit function. The committee has satisfi ed itself 

that there is adequate cooperation between both the internal 

and external auditors, and continues to serve as a conduit 

between the board and these functions.

To the best of the committee’s knowledge, the group has 

complied with all relevant and material legal, regulatory and 

other responsibilities. The committee members are also all 

satisfi ed with the functioning of the committee. The board is 

satisfi ed that the committee members collectively have 

suffi cient academic qualifi cations or experience in economics, 

law, corporate governance, fi nance, accounting, commerce, 

industry, public affairs and HR management as required by 

section 94(5) of the Companies Act, read with Regulation 42. 

(See  page 66 for the committee’s full report.)
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IT governance and IT steering committee

The group COO and group IT manager are responsible for 

addressing issues relating to customising IT requirements 

throughout the different businesses’ operations. IT governance 

and risk management are fully integrated with the overall group 

risk management framework, and continue to be monitored by 

the fi nancial director supported by the group COO and group 

IT manager.

The group’s IT internal control framework is mature, embedded in 

the risk and internal audit framework and associated databases/ 

registers. Independent assurance is provided by risk management 

specialists who are qualifi ed as Certifi ed Information Auditors 

(“CISA”) and who form part of the internal audit team. Senior 

management is presented with reports as and when required, and 

the audit and risk committee provides the board with appropriate 

feedback and reports.

The group COO, group IT manager and the IT steering committee 

have refi ned the IT Governance Charter throughout the year. 

Signifi cant improvements were made to IT governance in the year 

particularly with regard to the sustainability of data integrity, 

redundancy of operations, availability and reliability using cloud-

based technology and embedded data redundancy. Disaster 

recovery was also enhanced together with security of data 

sources and databases. During the year an ICT review assessment 

was undertaken by BDO IT RAS to verify the effectiveness of 

these improvements, and the results of the review support 

management assertions confi rming the extent of governance 

improvement.

Risk reporting

The audit and risk committee, working with the OneLogix 

executive management team, is responsible for determining the 

key risk areas facing the group and recommends mitigation 

measures. Consideration is given to profi t growth, return on 

investment and debt levels against targets set during the annual 

budget process. The executive management team continually 

reviews risk, at least on a monthly basis. The specialist input of an 

outsourced risk consultant is utilised in this process, who 

conducts a critical and objective analysis of the group’s risks 

making use of purpose-designed software and methodology.

The entire process is designed to manage rather than eliminate 

risk. The reviews are in turn tabled with the audit and risk 

committee, which gains insight by discussing the risks further in 

person with the executive management team. The committee 

tests the group’s risk tolerance levels at least once a year and 

recommends changes to policy if required, taking into account 

profi tability, liquidity/solvency and utilisation of assets. These 

fi ndings are communicated to and sanctioned by the board of 

directors, which takes ultimate responsibility for management of 

the group’s risk.

The committee is satisfi ed that the appropriate risk management 

processes, including the role of the outsourced risk specialist, the 

risk management software application and the methodology 

adopted are appropriate, effective and sustainable.

The audit and risk committee defi nes both “risk appetite” and 

“risk tolerance”. “Risk appetite” is defi ned as the amount and type 

of risk the company is willing to accept in the pursuit of its 

objectives. “Risk tolerance” is the specifi c maximum risk the 

company is willing to take and is derived from translating the risk 

appetite into more measurable quantitative or qualitative terms. 

These defi nitions are consistently applied on a regular basis 

throughout the group after ratifi cation by the board. Risk control 

– a fully integrated risk management system based on the 

Australian/New Zealand standards NZAU360 and ISO 31000 – is 

being used for the development of an enterprise-wide risk 

management (“ERM”) framework and processes.

The “KnowRisk” risk management application, developed by 

Corprofi t Australia, assists with compiling a consolidated risk 

register which is further aligned with the fi ndings of the external 

and internal auditors. The “KnowRisk” system’s fl exibility is of 

particular value to OneLogix, given the diverse nature of the 

activities undertaken by the business units within the group. In 

terms of the ERM system, material risks are identifi ed and 

categorised on an annual basis for each business unit and for the 

group as a whole. Inherent and residual assessments are 

performed based on both the likelihood of occurrence and 

the severity of the potential impact. Appropriate and feasible 

mitigation actions are then identifi ed, developed and implemented 

for each of the identifi ed and assessed risks, with the result that 

these risks are either terminated, treated, tolerated or transferred 

outside the business in question or the group as a whole. 

Individual risks are not managed outside the system.

This integrated approach to risk management ensures that an 

assessment of the indirect impacts of ESG risks is performed 

regularly. The risk reports are generated from the live system as 

and when it is updated, and then reviewed by the CEO and 

fi nancial director.
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The process for the year indicated that the risks in the group are 

well identifi ed, controlled and in line with acceptable risk 

propensity as defi ned by the board.

Internal control

The board and management make use of the process above to 

sustain a practical and effective internal control environment. 

These internal controls are designed to provide reasonable but 

not absolute assurance as to the safeguarding of assets, the 

maintenance of proper accounting records, the integrity and 

reliability of fi nancial information and the minimisation of 

signifi cant fraud, potential liability, loss and material misstatement, 

while complying with applicable laws and regulations. The system 

is designed to manage rather than eliminate risk of failure and 

opportunity risk. This control environment enables the board to 

provide reasonable assurance of the group’s achievement of 

strategic objectives and compliance with applicable laws and 

requirements. In addition, the system of internal controls enables 

the board to ensure business sustainability under normal and 

adverse operating conditions, and responsible behaviour towards 

all stakeholders. Nothing has come to the attention of the directors 

to indicate that a material breakdown in the internal controls 

within the group has occurred during the year.

Gender diversity policy

The group has a gender diversity policy in place outlining the board 

and company’s commitment to diversity in the composition of a 

board of directors. The board recognises that diversity of skills, 

experience, background, knowledge, thought, culture, race and 

gender strengthens the board’s ability to effectively carry out its 

GOVERNANCE (continued)

duties and add value to the group. As such the composition of the 

board is reviewed annually. The policy outlines that succession 

planning must promote diversity in accordance with the policies of 

the company and in compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements 

specifi cally relating to the promotion of gender diversity.

The policy sets a target of female representation on the board of 

50% by 2020. 

Legal compliance

The board and each director within the group has a working 

knowledge and understanding of the laws, rules, codes and 

standards applicable to the business in all the various forms. Each 

board member and offi cer as well as the business unit managing 

directors have access to appropriate legal advice when required. 

The provision of such advice is funded by the group. In addition, the 

company secretary together with the group’s sponsor monitors 

compliance with the provisions set out in the Companies Act, the 

JSE Listings Requirements and the King IV Code.

Company secretary

The company secretary, CIS Company Secretaries (Pty) Ltd, is an 

independent company secretarial practice providing services to 

numerous JSE-listed companies. The board has evaluated the 

competency, qualifi cations and experience of the company 

secretary and has satisfi ed itself that the company secretary and in 

particular its representative, Mr Neville Toerien, maintains an arm’s 

length relationship with the board at all times. The board has further 

satisfi ed itself that Mr Toerien is adequately and appropriately 

qualifi ed and skilled to act in accordance with regulations.

King IV application

Principle Principle description Comments

Leadership, ethics and corporate citizenship

1. The governing body should lead ethically 

and effectively

In terms of the board charter, the board ensures sound corporate 

governance by managing its relationship with management and other 

stakeholders along sound corporate governance principles. The board is 

fully committed to upholding the governance principles of responsibility, 

accountability, fairness and transparency. The board sets the values to 

which the company will adhere formulated in its code of conduct and 

provides overall leadership of the business, a cornerstone of which is acting 

as guardian of the group’s values and ethics. The board promotes the 

stakeholder-inclusive approach of governance.
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Principle Principle description Comments

2. The governing body should govern the 

ethics of the organisation in a way that 

supports the establishment of an ethical 

culture

In terms of the board charter, the board ensures that the group’s ethics are 

managed effectively. The social and ethics committee assists the board in 

this regard:

¡  Ethical risks and opportunities are incorporated in the risk management 

process;

¡  A code of conduct and ethics-related policies are implemented;

¡  Compliance with the code of conduct is integrated in the operations of 

the company; and

¡  The company’s ethics performance are assessed, monitored, reported 

and disclosed.

3. The governing body should ensure that the 

organisation is and is seen to be a 

responsible corporate citizen

The board is the focal point of good corporate citizenship and seeks to 

integrate this value into the group’s growth strategy and daily operations. 

The social and ethics committee explicitly includes good corporate 

citizenship as part of its responsibilities.

Strategy, performance and reporting

4. The governing body should appreciate that 

the organisation’s core purpose, its risks and 

opportunities, strategy, business model, 

performance and sustainable development 

are all inseparable elements of the value 

creation process

In accordance with the board charter, the board is responsible for approving 

the strategy and aligning strategic objectives, purpose, vision and values 

with risk and performance. The group monitors the extent of its risk closely. 

The audit and risk committee is responsible for overseeing the group’s risk 

management programme. The committee reports to the board, which 

retains ultimate responsibility for the control and management of risk.

5. The governing body should ensure that 

reports issued by the organisation enable 

stakeholders to make informed assessments 

of the organisation’s performance, and its 

short, medium and long-term prospects

The group understands that fully functional interaction with all stakeholders 

is critical to the sustainability of the business. The board’s audit and risk 

committee is responsible for recommending controls to enable it to verify 

and safeguard the integrity of its integrated report, annual financial 

statements and other corporate disclosures.

Governing structures and delegation

6. The governing body should serve as the 

focal point and custodian of corporate 

governance in the organisation

In terms of the board charter, the board ensures sound corporate governance 

by managing its relationship with management and other stakeholders along 

sound corporate governance principles. The board is satisfied that it has 

fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with its board charter.

7. The governing body should comprise the 

appropriate balance of knowledge, skills, 

experience, diversity and independence for 

it to discharge its governance role and 

responsibilities objectively and effectively

The composition of the board complies with the requirements of King IV 

and the JSE Listings Requirements. The directors of the board represent a 

balance of expertise, skills and experience to effectively contribute to the 

requirements of the board and its committees.
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Principle Principle description Comments

8. The governing body should ensure that its 

arrangements for delegation within its own 

structures promote independent judgement, 

and assist with balance of power and the 

effective discharge of its duties

The board delegates specific functions, without abdicating its own 

responsibilities, to the following committees:

¡  Executive committee;

¡  Audit and risk committee;

¡  Remuneration committee; and

¡  Social and ethics committee.

Each of these committees has a formal charter approved by the board 

and reviewed yearly. Committees (except the executive committee) 

comprise a majority of non-executive directors of which the majority are 

independent. These committees are free to take independent outside 

professional advice.

9. The governing body should ensure that the 

evaluation of its own performance and that 

of its committees, its chair and its individual 

members, support continued improvement 

in its performance and effectiveness

An assessment is performed on a periodic basis.

The results of performance evaluations identifies training needs for 

directors.

10. The governing body should ensure that the 

appointment of, and delegation to, 

management contribute to role clarity and 

effective exercise of authority and 

responsibilities

The board has appointed a CEO who leads the day-to-day management of 

the company. The role of the CEO is clear and he delegates certain daily 

tasks to executive management and serves as link between management 

and the board.

Governance functional areas

11. The governing body should govern risk in a 

way that supports the organisation in setting 

and achieving its strategic objectives

The audit and risk committee is responsible for overseeing the group’s risk 

management programme. The committee reports to the board, which 

retains ultimate responsibility for the control and management of risk. 

The committee will ensure that the disclosure of risk is comprehensive, 

timely and relevant and that an effective policy and plan is in place to 

achieve strategic objectives. The risk management policy is widely 

distributed throughout the company. The board continually monitors, 

and at least once a year reviews the implementation of the risk 

management plan.

12. The governing body should govern 

technology and information in a way that 

supports the organisation setting and 

achieving its strategic objectives

The board, through the audit and risk committee, is responsible for 

effectively managing relevant IT risks, and ensures:

¡  That an IT charter and policies are established and implemented;

¡  The promotion of an ethical IT governance culture and awareness and of 

a common IT language; and

¡  That an IT internal control framework is adopted and implemented.

The board receives independent assurance on the effectiveness of the IT 

internal controls.

GOVERNANCE (continued)
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Principle Principle description Comments

13. The governing body should govern 

compliance with applicable laws and adopt 

non-binding rules, codes and standards in a 

way that it supports the organisation being 

ethical and a good corporate citizen

The board charter demands that the board complies with applicable laws 

and considers adherence to non-binding rules and standards, with the 

assistance of the audit and risk committee. The board monitors the 

company’s compliance with applicable laws, rules, codes and standards.

14. The governing body should ensure that the 

organisation remunerates fairly, responsibly 

and transparently so as to promote the 

achievement of strategic objectives and 

positive outcomes in the short, medium and 

long term

The board charter places the responsibility for ensuring an appropriate 

remuneration strategy with the board. The group’s remuneration committee 

makes independent recommendations to the board for final approval 

ensuring that the group remunerates non-executive directors and 

executives fairly and responsibly and that the disclosure of directors’ 

remuneration is accurate, complete and transparent.

The remuneration policy is put to 

shareholders for approval annually. The 

implementation report will be put to 

sharehoders for approval at the annual 

general meeting of the company for the 

financial year commencing 1 June 2017.

In addition, fees for board members are approved annually at the annual 

general meeting.

15. The governing body should ensure that 

assurance services and functions enable an 

effective control environment, and that these 

support the integrity of information for 

internal decision-making and of the 

organisation’s external reports

An effective and independent audit and risk committee exists and meets as 

often as is necessary to fulfil its functions but at least twice a year.

The audit and risk committee ensures that combined assurance is achieved 

and meets with internal and external auditors at least once a year.

Stakeholder relationships

16. In the execution of its governance roles and 

responsibilities, the governing body should 

adopt a stakeholder-inclusive approach that 

balances the needs, interests and 

expectations of material stakeholders in the 

best interests of the organisation over time

The group understands that fully functional interaction with all stakeholders 

is critical to the sustainability of the business.

17. The governing body of an institutional 

investor organisation should ensure that 

responsible investment is practiced by the 

organisation to promote the good 

governance and the creation of value by the 

companies in which it invests

Not applicable.
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REMUNERATION REPORT

Remuneration committee

The remuneration committee is chaired by independent non-

executive director LJ Sennelo and has two independent non-

executive directors, AJ Grant and B Mathews, as additional 

members. It is responsible for determining the remuneration, 

incentive arrangements, profi t participation and benefi ts of the 

executive directors and executive management. Further, the 

committee is responsible for ensuring that levels of remuneration 

are suffi cient to attract, retain and motivate executives of the 

calibre required for high-level management and key personnel 

positions.

A global consulting fi rm is utilised to ensure executives’ salaries 

are appropriately benchmarked against peers. The committee is 

also responsible for assisting in a performance assessment of the 

executive directors in respect of the discharge of their functions 

and responsibilities. The board as a whole identifi es and 

nominates suitable candidates for election to the group’s board 

and sub-committees, which nominations are in line with the 

company’s policy on appointments to the board and which 

ensures that all director appointments are done in a formal and 

transparent manner.

Group remuneration and benefi ts policy

The remuneration and benefi ts policy forms part of the group 

Human Resources strategy and is based on a philosophy of fair 

and appropriate levels of remuneration and benefi ts. The strategy 

aims at attracting, retaining and motivating exceptional and 

effective individuals in order to add real value to the group, and is 

fl exible enough to adjust to changing economic conditions and 

operational requirements. Overall the strategy aligns with the 

group’s core purpose, vision and values.

Group remuneration philosophy

In order to attract, retain and motivate the correct calibre of 

individuals with consistently high levels of performance, the 

group:

¡  aims to maintain competitive salary levels with reference to the 

comparable market mean and facilitates exceptions dependent 

on particular economic and operational circumstances that 

may arise from time to time;

¡  within the context of an overall remuneration strategy, ensures 

the availability of guidelines that enable remuneration decisions 

to be made with speed, confi dence and integrity;

¡  enables remuneration decisions that support its growth strategy;

¡  sanctions the continual development of internal talent that 

reinforces roles and general accountability in line with its 

growth strategy;

¡  ensures the provision of cost-effective benefi ts that are 

meaningful, clearly communicated and supported by a highly 

effective administration system;

¡  rewards individuals that make the group more competitive and 

generally important to our customers;

¡  adheres with strict compliance to collective main agreements 

that facilitate minimum wages and benefi ts;

¡  encourages clearly communicated activities that reinforce the 

enabling culture of the group; and

¡  does not indulge in remuneration practices that facilitate the 

avoidance of applicable laws and regulations of the country.

In particular, remuneration levels comprise a fi xed and variable 

component. The fi xed component includes a base salary, 

provident fund and medical scheme contribution while the 

variable reward comprises an incentive bonus and a staff and 

management share participation scheme. In addition, further 

benefi ts incorporated into the group’s total reward programme 

may include an employee bursary scheme applicable to deserving 

staff, certain training and development initiatives, long service 

awards where applicable, staff purchases, company vehicles, 

cellphone and computer usage.

For the past few years the average salary increase across the 

group has been in excess of the cost of living increase. While the 

percentage increase is set at group level, individual managing 

directors of group businesses have the discretion to vary this 

percentage both upwards and down, depending on particular 

circumstances within that business. A large portion of the group’s 

staff have increases determined by bargaining councils and the 

company is naturally bound by these decisions.

Group businesses strive to pay performance bonuses whenever 

possible. Such performance-based bonuses are calculable 

against pre-determined criteria during performance reviews and 

are determined on a set formula basis pertinent to each company.

Executive management has a short-term incentive in place 

calculated on a return on equity model with a hurdle rate on profi t 

after tax of 15% of equity. Should the target not be achieved, a 

discretionary payment – capped at a maximum of 30% of annual 

guaranteed remuneration package – may be approved by the 

remuneration committee.

The short-term incentive for senior, middle management and other 

staff varies from company to company and generally represents 

legacy policy of acquired companies. A 13th cheque, dependent 

on company performance, is the most prevalent model within the 

group. Variations to this include OneLogix United Bulk, where staff 
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enjoy a quarterly bonus dependent on performance relative to 

revenue and cost targets; OneLogix VDS, where a portion of 

management’s annual bonus is calculated on business unit 

performance against budget, with the balance calculated on overall 

company performance; and Atlas360 and OneLogix Projex, where 

senior management’s bonus is calculated according to the same 

formula as the group’s executive management.

The group will in due course consider a more standardised short-

term incentive policy.

For those staff not bound by bargaining council decisions, the 

company makes a contribution on behalf of the employees to a 

provident fund. In addition, staff have the opportunity to make 

their own contributions. The company bears the administrative 

costs of these additional contributions.

Executive salary scales are determined by research reports 

generated specifi cally for the group by independent advisor, 

PE Corporate Services. In all, three reports are typically utilised:

1.  Top Executive Remuneration Survey (“TERS”), which 

considers approximately 800 listed and unlisted companies in 

South Africa;

2.  The JSE Abstract of Disclosed Information, based on 

published fi nancial information of all JSE listed companies for 

the past 12 months and suitably adjusted for infl ation for 

purposes of the OneLogix comparison; and

3.  Peer comparisons of JSE listed companies, suitably adjusted 

for infl ation where applicable.

The executive bonus payment is based on a return on equity 

formula which has been in operation for the past few years.

Directors’ and executive remuneration is set out on  pages 101 

to 102.

LJ Sennelo

Chairperson, remuneration committee

24 August 2017
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SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE REPORT

The board of directors is the ultimate guardian of the group’s 

values and ethics and in its own conduct strives to embody these 

to lead by example. It follows that the board aims to integrate 

these values and ethics into the company’s growth strategy. The 

social and ethics committee, a statutory committee of the board, 

assists the board in this endeavour. The committee is formally 

appointed to assist the board with social and ethics and related 

matters, as provided for in the Companies Act 71 of 2008 (as 

amended). 

Its terms of reference require membership to consist of not less 

than three members appointed by the board. At least one of the 

members must be a director who has not been involved in the 

day-to-day management of the company’s business within the 

past three fi nancial years. Accordingly the committee is chaired 

by independent non-executive director, Lesego Sennelo, and 

further comprises the CEO and FD. The committee meets at least 

twice a year. The members of the committee will be revised in 

order to comply with the recommendations of King IV.

The committee has all the functions and responsibilities provided 

for in the Companies Act and its terms of reference more explicitly, 

but not exhaustively, task it to monitor the company’s activities 

with regard to:

¡  Social and economic development (including the UN Global 

Compact Principles; the OECD recommendations regarding 

corruption); the Employment Equity Act and the Broad-Based 

Black Economic Empowerment Act;

¡  Good corporate citizenship, including promotion of equality, 

prevention of unfair discrimination, reduction of corruption, 

contribution to the development of communities in which its 

products and services are marketed, record of sponsorship, 

donations and charitable giving;

¡  The environment, health and public safety, including the impact 

of the company’s activities;

¡  Consumer relationships, including the company’s advertising, 

public relations and compliance with consumer protection 

laws; and

¡  The company’s employment relationships and its contribution 

towards the educational development of its employees.

The chair of the committee is required to attend board meetings as 

well as annual general meetings of the company in order to provide 

a report relating to the affairs of the committee.

Notable matters relating to social and ethics pertaining to the 

company during the year included:

B-BBEE

The most recent B-BBEE certifi cation for OneLogix places the 

group at Level 3. The validity of this accreditation extends to end 

May 2018. We are actively engaged in initiatives aimed at ensuring 

that this level of accreditation is maintained beyond that date.

The company’s BEE scorecard for the year to end May 2018 is as 

follows:

Item Score Target

Ownership 20,18 23

Management 3,83 11

Employment equity 6,12 18

Skills development 15 15

Preferential procurement 11,4 20

Enterprise development 15 15

Socio-economic development 5 5

Total 76,53 107

Health and safety

The group health and safety function is now well established. The 

responsibility for the function resides with the Group Health and 

Safety Manager, a member of the group’s executive committee.

The Group Health and Safety Manager has established a detailed 

plan for each group company. Further to the comprehensive and 

independent SHERQ gap analysis performed during 2016, various 

practical actions have been put in place within the group.

A summary of the present Health and Safety status within the 

group is as follows:

¡  Certifi cations in place

  –  OneLogix VDS – ISO 9001, ISO 14001, OSHAS 18001 and 

RTMS 

  –  OneLogix CVDS – ISO 9001

  –  OneLogix United Bulk – SQAS

  –  OneLogix United Bulk (Worcester and Vanderbijlpark 

premises) – ISO 9001

  –  OneLogix United Bulk (Vanderbijlpark) – RTMS

¡  Certifi cations in progress

  –  OneLogix Buffelshoek – SQAS

  –  OneLogix Projex – ISA 9001

  –  OneLogix United Bulk – ISO 9001, ISO 14001, OHSAS 18001
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Other actions during the year include completion of all legal 

appointments, institution of a system that records all injury on 

duty occurrences together with analysis and action taken, 

appropriate calibration of all group equipment and regular 

safety meetings.

Code of Conduct

There were no reported breaches of the group’s Code during 

the year. 

The Code is printed, distributed and displayed in prominent 

positions within each of the group companies and is regularly 

featured within the company’s monthly internal newsletter. The 

Code is based on the value system to which staff are expected to 

adhere. It addresses the following matters: 

¡  Business is to be conducted with integrity, mutual respect and 

professionalism in order to enhance the company’s reputation;

¡  Zero tolerance for any form of corruption, unethical business 

practice and behaviour that contravenes a law, regulation or 

accepted norms of society;

¡  Avoidance of actual or potential confl icts of interest that may 

compromise an individual’s ability to act in the company’s best 

interest;

¡  Refusal of gifts, hospitality or other forms of favour from third 

parties in return for any kind of favour, service or treatment;

¡  Resisting direct or indirect discriminatory practices and 

supporting the process of sustainable and real transformation;

¡  Safeguarding the use of company assets for legitimate 

purposes only;

¡  Protecting the confi dentiality of company information;

¡  Adhering to systems of internal control designed to meet the 

company’s strategic objectives;

¡  Subscribing to and acting in accordance with sound health, 

safety and environmental practices;

¡  Generally applying good corporate governance and high ethical 

standards in all instances; and

¡  Generally complying with all the laws of the countries within 

which the group operates.

Fraud

There were no incidences of reported fraud within the group 

during the year.

Our policy regarding reporting criminal activity at work is 

communicated at least once a year to staff via the company’s 

internal newsletter. In summary, there are two avenues open in this 

regard: 

¡  Report directly to an immediate supervisor or department head. 

If the reporter feels uncomfortable with this action, direct 

communications with a company director is urged; and

¡  If anonymity is desirable, the reporter is directed to contact the 

company’s internal auditors. The name and contact details of 

the partner in charge of the audit are provided to all staff.

A reward system is in place for anyone who volunteers information 

that leads to appropriate action being taken. The reward is 

commensurate with the nature and extent of the criminal activity 

involved.

Staff are also reminded that if they are aware of any criminal 

activity at work, and fail to report it, they risk being deemed to be 

in breach of company policy. They are at the same time reminded 

not to misuse the “whistleblowing” system in order to settle 

personal scores. 

Internal audit

Please see  page 50 for further detail.

Good corporate citizenship

The group has a number of initiatives in place, including:

¡  Staff wellness programmes conducted on a regular basis;

¡  Mobile clinic visits to various group companies (being rolled out);

¡  Regular blood clinics with the SA Blood Services. The group is 

one of the largest blood donors;

¡  Our long-standing bursary scheme addressing the educational 

needs of staff members (beyond training conducted within the 

company) as well as those of staff children (see report under 

heading “Our impact” on  page 36); and

¡  Regular support of worthwhile causes.
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SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE REPORT (continued)

Staff relations

A staff and management share participation scheme was 

introduced on 28 January 2015. Nodus Capital was appointed in 

May 2016 to provide the updated annual valuation models for the 

group’s businesses, as required by the relevant companies’ 

Memoranda of Incorporation and based on the audited fi nancial 

statements of OneLogix. Nodus Capital will also ensure that all 

terms and conditions of the relevant legal agreements are adhered 

to and attend to other administration matters as becomes 

necessary.

To date Nodus Capital has provided the group with a detailed 

administrative plan documenting the steps to address the good 

and bad leavers of both the staff and management share 

participation schemes. 

As at the start of the current year, there were 1 654 and 125 

participants, respectively, for the staff and management schemes. 

Of these, a total of 70 good leavers and 248 bad leavers have 

ceased to be participants in the staff scheme, while three good 

leavers and nine bad leavers ceased to be participants in the 

management scheme. 

Employee and management share participation 

scheme

On 28 January 2015, OneLogix implemented an employee share 

ownership initiative whereby newly formed OLG Esizayo (Pty) Ltd 

acquired 10% in OneLogix funded by the issue of preference 

shares by Esizayo to OneLogix. Esizayo was incorporated to 

enable all staff of OneLogix, other than directors and prescribed 

offi cers of the group, to collectively acquire an indirect 

shareholding in OneLogix. The implementation of this share 

participation transaction has a positive impact on the ownership 

element of the new BEE codes. 

Also on 28 January 2015, subsequent to the board identifying the 

need to retain key executives within the group, a management 

share participation initiative was implemented via the newly formed 

OLG Abaholi (Pty) Ltd. Abaholi acquired a 5% stake in OneLogix 

funded by the issue of preference shares by Abaholi to OneLogix. 

The transaction was implemented for the benefi t of creating value 

for key management over the long term while also serving the 

interests of OneLogix and its shareholders. The participants only 

benefi t if and to the extent that OneLogix achieves certain pre-

determined earnings growth targets over a fi ve-year period 

commencing on 28 January 2015, thereby aligning the interests of 

the participants with those of OneLogix shareholders. 

Customer relations

Customer relations remains a strength of the group and is the 

responsibility of the executive management together with the 

senior management of each company. The group continues to 

receive positive affi rmation of its performance from customers.

Supplier relations

A new group procurement manager has recently been appointed, 

whose responsibilities include identifying appropriate small 

business suppliers as part of the group’s transformation initiatives.

Environmental considerations

The group has a number of initiatives in place. (See earlier report 

under “Sustainability highlights” on  page 6 for further detail.)

LJ Sennelo

Chairperson, social and ethics committee

24 August 2017
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for the adequacy of accounting records, the effectiveness of risk management and the 

internal control environment, the appropriateness of accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and the 

consistency of estimates. The directors further acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the consolidated annual fi nancial 

statements, adherence to applicable accounting standards and presentation of related information that fairly presents the state of 

affairs and the results of the company and of the group.

The consolidated annual fi nancial statements set out in this report incorporate the results for the year ended 31 May 2017. They have 

been prepared by the directors in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as well the SAICA Financial Reporting 

Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, the JSE Listings Requirements and in the manner required by the South 

African Companies Act. They incorporate full and adequate disclosure and are based on appropriate accounting policies which have 

been consistently applied and which are supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

No event material to the understanding of this report has occurred between the fi nancial year-end and the date of this report. In the 

context of the audit carried out for the purposes of expressing an opinion on the fair presentation of the consolidated annual fi nancial 

statements. The directors have reviewed the group’s budget and cash fl ow forecast for the year to 31 May 2018. On the basis of this 

review, and in light of the current fi nancial position and existing borrowing facilities, the directors are satisfi ed that the company and the 

group are a going concern and they have accordingly adopted the going concern basis in preparing the annual fi nancial statements.

The external auditors are not responsible for providing an independent assessment of internal fi nancial controls but are responsible for 

reporting on whether the fi nancial statements are fairly presented in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. The 

external audit offers reasonable, but not absolute, assurance on the accuracy of fi nancial disclosures.

Competence of the company secretary

The board of directors has also considered and satisfi ed itself of the appropriateness of the competence, qualifi cations and expertise 

of the company secretary, CIS Company Secretaries Proprietary Limited. The board of directors confi rms that CIS Company Secretaries 

Proprietary Limited is not a director of the company, and reports directly to the Chief Executive Offi cer and therefore is considered to 

maintain an arm’s length relationship with the board of directors.

Board approval

The consolidated annual fi nancial statements were approved by the board of directors on 24 August 2017 and are signed on its 

behalf by:

 

IK Lourens GM Glass

Chief Executive Offi cer Financial Director

24 August 2017

Johannesburg
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DECLARATION BY THE COMPANY SECRETARY

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, I confi rm that for the year ended 31 May 2017, OneLogix Group Limited 

has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such returns and notices as are required of a public company 

in terms of the Act and that all such returns and notices are true, correct and up to date.

CIS Company Secretaries Proprietary Limited

Company secretary

24 August 2017

Johannesburg
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for the year ended 31 May 2017

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors present their annual report, which forms part of the annual fi nancial statements of the company and the group for the year 

ended 31 May 2017.

Preparation of fi nancial statements in terms of the Companies Act

The annual fi nancial statements have been audited by Mazars in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act. The fi nancial 

statements were prepared under the supervision of Mr Geoff Glass, the Financial Director of the group, who is a qualifi ed CA(SA).

Nature of business

The group activities are :

¡  Local and cross-border auto-logistics;

¡  Project, abnormal and general freight logistics throughout South and southern Africa;

¡  Logistics for solvents, acid, food grade product, liquid petroleum, gas, cryogenics and dry bulk;

¡  Movement of general freight into and out of southern Africa;

¡  Top-end refrigerated logistics of agricultural products;

¡  Distribution of agricultural inputs and fi nal product;

¡  Repairs for commercial vehicles, structural chassis repairs, cab rebuilds and specialised spray painting; and

¡  Import and export warehouse handling and clearing and forwarding activity.

Group results

The group’s and company’s fi nancial results are set out in detail in the annual fi nancial statements and accompanying notes and in our 

opinion do not require any further comment.

Share capital

At year-end the authorised share capital comprised 500 000 000 (2016: 500 000 000) ordinary shares of no par value, of which 289 923 181 

(2016: 289 923 181) were issued. Ordinary shares of 37 976 892 (2016: 37 976 892) are classifi ed as treasury shares as these shares are held 

by OLG Esizayo Proprietary Limited and OLG Abaholi Proprietary Limited whose results are required to be consolidated by OneLogix as per 

IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements.

The company’s unissued shares have been placed under the control of the directors until the upcoming annual general meeting. 

Subsidiaries

Details of the company’s interest in its subsidiaries are set out in note 21 to the annual fi nancial statements.

Dividend

A dividend of 8 cents per share was declared and paid during the year under review (2016: 6 cents per share).

Directors

The directors during the period were as follows:

Independent non-executive directors

SM Pityana (Chairman)

AJ Grant

B Mathews

LJ Sennelo

Non-executive directors

K Schoeman

Executive directors

NJ Bester

GM Glass (FD)

IK Lourens (CEO)

CV McCulloch (COO)

In terms of the memorandum of incorporation, AJ Grant and B Mathews will retire as directors at the upcoming annual general meeting 

and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election. 

OneLogix Group Integrated annual report 2017

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
64



Directors’ interest

No material contracts in which directors have an interest were entered into during the year other than the transactions detailed in note 18 

to the annual fi nancial statements.

Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 18 to the annual fi nancial statements.

Directors’ shareholding

At 31 May 2017, the directors of the company directly held 109 235 412 (2016: 108 959 799) shares in the issued share capital of the 

company. Save for the shareholdings detailed below, no other director held any interest in the issued share capital of the company.

Director
Direct 

2017
Direct 

2016

NJ Bester 91 253 945 91 253 945

GM Glass 1 040 000 1 040 000

IK Lourens 11 665 854 11 665 854

CV McCulloch 5 275 613 5 000 000

109 235 412 108 959 799

Since year-end to the date of this report there has been no change in directors’ shareholding.

Company secretary

The secretary of the company during the year under review was CIS Company Secretaries Proprietary Limited. Their business and 

postal addresses are set out on  page 124 of the fi nancial statements.

Auditors

Following a tender process initiated by OneLogix pursuant to a strategy to reduce overall operating costs, Mazars has been appointed 

auditors of the company in accordance with section 90(6) of the Companies Act of South Africa in place of PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Inc. with effect from 23 June 2017.

Subsequent events

Shareholders are advised that an ordinary dividend of 5 cents per share (2016: 6 cents per share) was declared by the board of 

OneLogix on 24 August 2017.

OneLogix has reached an agreement for the disposal of its 49% shareholding in DriveRisk to a 51% black owned consortium. We will 

realise R65 million from this particularly successful investment.

We have restructured our position with respect to the Umlaas Road Properties in KwaZulu-Natal (subject to regulatory approvals 

and will shortly realise its sale to and leaseback from a 51% black owned consortium. The consideration payable for the property is 

R240 million in cash. This initiative has made available capital to be deployed into higher returning investments in line with our proven 

conservative investment strategy and signifi cantly deleveraged our statement of fi nancial position. The disposal proceeds will be 

applied fi rst to reduce debt with the balance being used to fund future growth opportunities and investments. It is anticipated that the 

effective date will be 15 September 2017.

The sale of DriveRisk and the Umlaas Road Properties have been classifi ed as a non-current assets/liabilities held-for-sale. Please refer 

to note 6 for further details.

24 August 2017

Johannesburg
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

In terms of section 94 of the Companies Act No 71 of 2008 (the “Act”) the audit and risk committee reports that it has adopted 

appropriate formal terms of reference as its mandate, and has regulated its affairs in compliance with this mandate, and has discharged 

all of its responsibilities set out therein.

The audit and risk committee has discharged the functions in terms of its charter and ascribed to it in terms of the Act as follows:

¡  Reviewed the interim and year-end fi nancial statements, culminating in a recommendation to the board to adopt them. In the course 

of its review the committee:

  –  Took appropriate steps to ensure that the fi nancial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards as well as the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, the JSE Listings 

Requirements and in the manner required by the Act;

  –  Considered and, where appropriate, made recommendations on internal fi nancial controls;

  –  Dealt with concerns or complaints on accounting policies, internal audit, the auditing or content of consolidated annual fi nancial 

statements, and internal fi nancial controls; and

  –  Reviewed legal matters that could have a signifi cant impact on the group’s fi nancial statements;

¡  Reviewed external audit reports on the consolidated annual fi nancial statements;

¡  Reviewed and approved the internal audit function;

¡  Reviewed internal audit and risk management functions and, where relevant, made recommendations to the board;

¡  Evaluated the effectiveness of risk management, controls and governance processes;

¡  Verifi ed the independence of the external auditor, nominated Mazars as auditor for 2017 and noted the appointment of Mr Sanjay 

Ranchhoojee as the designated auditor;

¡  Approved audit fees and engagement terms of the external auditor; and

¡  Determined the nature and extent of allowable non-audit services and approved contract terms for non-audit services by the external 

auditor.

The members of the audit and risk committee will be re-elected at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

As required by JSE Listings Requirements, the audit and risk committee has satisfi ed itself that the group Financial Director has 

appropriate expertise and experience, and itself that the composition, experience and skills set of the fi nance function met the group’s 

requirements. In addition, the committee is satisfi ed that OneLogix has established appropriate fi nancial reporting procedures and that 

these procedures are operating.

Nothing has come to the attention of the audit and risk committee that there has been a material breakdown in the internal accounting 

controls during the fi nancial year. We base this on the information and explanations given by management as well as discussions with 

the independent external auditors on their results of their audits.

Alec Grant

Chairman

24 August 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the shareholders of OneLogix Group Limited

Report on the audit of the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements of OneLogix Group Limited and its subsidiaries (“the group”) set 

out on  pages 72 to 111 and the company set out on  pages 112 to 119, which comprise the consolidated and separate statement 

of fi nancial position as at 31 May 2017, and the consolidated and separate statement of profi t or loss and other comprehensive income, 

the consolidated and separate statement of changes in equity and the consolidated and separate statement of cash fl ows for the year 

then ended, and notes to the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements, including a summary of signifi cant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate 

fi nancial position of the group as at 31 May 2017, and its consolidated and separate fi nancial performance and consolidated and 

separate cash fl ows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 

the Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards 

are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated fi nancial statements section of our report. We are 

independent of the group in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for 

Registered Auditors (“IRBA Code”) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of fi nancial statements in 

South Africa. We have fulfi lled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical 

requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the International Ethics Standards 

Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B). We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most signifi cance in our audit of the consolidated 

fi nancial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated fi nancial 

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. All key audit 

matters relate to the consolidated fi nancial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

Matter Audit response

Goodwill valuation

Goodwill comprises 5% of total assets of the group at year-end as 

per the statement of financial position.

As required by the applicable accounting standards, the directors 

conduct annual impairment tests to assess the recoverability of 

the carrying value of goodwill. This is performed using discounted 

cash flow models.

There are a number of key areas of estimation and judgement 

made in determining the inputs which include:

¡  Future revenue, operating margins and other items impacting 

projected cash flows;

¡  Interest rates;

¡  Discount rates applied to projected future cash flows; and

¡  Adequacy of budgeting techniques.

The significance of the estimates and judgements involved in 

determining the potential goodwill impairment could result in a 

material misstatement, and is therefore deemed a key audit 

matter.

We have critically assessed whether the model used by the 

directors to calculate the value in use of the individual cash-

generating units (“CGUs”) complies with the requirements of 

IAS 36: Impairment of Assets which included:

¡  Assessing the assumptions used to calculate discount rates 

and recalculating these rates;

¡  Analysing future projected cash flows used to determine the 

reasonability given the current macro-economic climate and 

expected future performance of CGUs;

¡  Subjecting key assumptions to sensitivity analysis;

¡  Assessing the reasonability of forecast assumptions through:

  –  Discussing reasons for deviations with management;

  –  Corroborating reasons obtained from management above 

through inspection of supporting documentation;

  –  Concluding on adequacy of budgeting techniques.

We have also reviewed the adequacy of disclosures as required 

in terms of IAS 36.

Based on our procedures performed, we have concluded that 

the risk of material misstatement of goodwill due to unrecognised 

impairment has been adequately addressed.

Valuation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprise 55% of total assets of 

the group at year-end as per the statement of financial position.

Management is responsible for annually assessing the useful lives 

and residual values of assets:

¡  Useful lives are determined as the period over which the group 

expects to utilise the benefits embodied in the assets. The 

group uses the following estimations and indicators to 

determine useful lives:

  –  Expected usage of assets;

  –  Expected physical wear and tear; and

  –  Expected technical and commercial obsolescence.

¡  Residual values are an estimate made of the amount the group 

would expect to currently receive for the assets if the asset was 

already the age and in the condition expected at the end of its 

useful life.

Due to the significance of the estimates and judgements involved 

which could result in a material misstatement this has been 

deemed a key audit matter.

We critically evaluated the reasonability of the useful lives and 

residual values as assessed by management in accordance with 

IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment. Our evaluation included:

  –  Considering the nature and use of selected assets;

  –  Considering the actual age of assets per category compared 

to the assessed useful life;

  –  Inspecting the physical condition of a selected sample of 

assets and thus their apparent useful lives against those that 

have been determined by management;

  –  Assessing the reasonability of the assumptions made by 

management in determining the residual values by 

comparing it to market-related residual values for assets of 

a similar nature; and

  –  Evaluating management’s assessment against historical data 

(history of profit/loss on disposal of assets), industry practice 

and our knowledge of the business.

Based on our procedures performed we can conclude that property, 

plant and equipment has been correctly valued at year-end.
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Matter Audit response

Classification and measurement of the non-current asset held-for-sale

As per IFRS 5, an entity shall classify a non-current asset (or 

disposal group) as held-for-sale if its carrying amount will be 

recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than 

through continuing use.

During the year the following transactions were considered 

highly probable:

¡  Disposal of the 49% shareholding of DriveRisk; and

¡  Sale and leaseback of the Umlaas Road Properties.

Due to the material nature of the transactions as well as the 

degree of judgement required in the measurement and 

classification of the transactions, this has been deemed a key 

audit matter.

We performed the following procedures and confirmed whether 

the criteria as required by IFRS 5: Non-Current Assets Held-for-

Sale were met relating to the classification thereof:

¡  Assessing whether the asset is available-for-sale in its 

immediate condition by inspection of the minutes of board 

meetings and the valuation reports indicating that the asset is 

available-for-sale in its present condition;

¡  Assessing whether the sale of the asset was highly probable at 

year-end (taking into account all considerations as stated per 

IFRS 5); and

¡  Evaluating the directors’ decision to reclassify the asset to 

non-current assets held-for-sale.

We tested the measurement of the non-current assets held-for-

sale. Our procedures included:

¡  Evaluating whether the asset was carried at the lower of its 

carrying value or fair value less costs to sell.

¡  Critically assessing the fair value in terms of IFRS 13: Fair 

Value Measurement by agreeing this to available market 

information.

¡  Assessing the directors’ assumptions in determining the fair 

value less costs to sell at reporting date for reasonableness.

Based on our procedures performed, we can conclude that the 

assets were correctly classified and valued as non-current assets 

held-for-sale at year-end.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the directors’ report, the audit and risk 

committee’s report, the company secretary’s certifi cate, as required by the Companies Act of South Africa, which we obtained prior to 

the date of this report, and the integrated annual report, which is expected to be made available to us after that date. Other information 

does not include the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit 

opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate fi nancial 

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 

performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 

of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such 

internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate fi nancial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to infl uence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 

fi nancial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 

audit. We also:

¡  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is suffi cient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

¡  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control.

¡  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 

made by the directors.

¡  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence 

obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast signifi cant doubt on the group’s ability 

to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 

report to the related disclosures in the consolidated fi nancial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 

Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 

may cause the group to cease to continue as a going concern.

¡  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation. 

¡  Obtain suffi cient appropriate audit evidence regarding the fi nancial information of the entities or business activities within the group 

to express an opinion on the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 

performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and signifi cant audit 

fi ndings, including any signifi cant defi ciencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and 

to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 

applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most signifi cance in the audit of the 

consolidated and separate fi nancial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 

in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 

we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefi ts of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that Mazars has been 

the auditor of OneLogix Group Limited for one year.

Mazars 

Partner: Sanjay Ranchhoojee

Registered Auditor

24 August 2017

Johannesburg
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for the year ended 31 May 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Notes
2017 

R’000
2016 

R’000

Continuing operations

Revenue 2.1 1 995 886 1 778 605

Fuel and motor vehicle expenses 2.2 (617 737) (528 267)

Other operating expenses 2.3 (476 728) (455 002)

Employment costs 3 (617 829) (546 273)

Depreciation and amortisation 8, 9 (132 875) (113 214)

Loss on sale of assets (2 573) (7)

Operating profit 148 146 135 842

Share of profits from associate (non-current assets held-for-sale) 6 14 213 6 313

Finance income 4 1 664 3 238

Finance costs 4 (59 289) (51 362)

Gain on acquisition – 699

Profit before taxation 104 734 94 730

Taxation 5 (20 958) (18 863)

Profit for the year 83 776 75 867

Other comprehensive income:

Currency translation differences* 700 510

Deferred tax increase on revaluation reserve due to CGT inclusion rate increase* – (1 291)

Revaluation of land and buildings 8 13 968 –

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year net of tax 14 668 (781)

Total comprehensive income 98 444 75 086

Profit attributable to:

– Owners of the parent 72 968 65 214

– Non-controlling interests 10 808 10 653

83 776 75 867

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

– Owners of the parent 87 636 64 433

– Non-controlling interests 10 808 10 653

98 444 75 096

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 7 29,0 26,0

*  May subsequently be reclassified to profit and loss during future reporting periods.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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at 31 May 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Notes
2017 

R’000
2016 

R’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 8 1 018 770 1 136 474

Intangible assets 9 155 868 163 724

Investment in associate 6 – 36 785

Loans and other receivables 6 425 7 118

Deferred taxation 13 1 308 2 049

1 182 371 1 346 150

Current assets

Inventories 22 914 24 122

Trade and other receivables 10 292 016 259 127

Current tax receivable 2 255 1 722

Cash and cash equivalents 11 95 016 100 012

412 201 384 983

Non-current assets held-for-sale 6 256 380 –

Total assets 1 850 952 1 731 133

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves attributable to the group’s equity holders 799 775 722 075

Non-controlling interests 45 295 36 509

Total equity 845 070 758 584

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings 12 309 997 466 463

Deferred taxation 13 128 522 123 420

438 519 589 883

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 14 256 797 215 793

Current portion of interest-bearing borrowings 12 150 878 164 655

Current tax liabilities 3 272 2 218

410 947 382 666

Non-current liabilities held-for-sale 6 156 416 –

Total liabilities 1 005 882 972 549

Total equity and liabilities 1 850 952 1 731 133

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to equity holders

Stated 
capital 
R’000

Treasury 
shares 
R’000

Retained
 earnings 

R’000

Reva-
luation

 reserve 
R’000

Other 
reserves 

R’000

Share-
based 

payment 
reserve 

R’000

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

R’000

Trans-
actions

 with non-
 controlling 

interests 
R’000

Non-
control-

ling
 interests 

R’000
Total 

R’000

At 31 May 2015 395 425 (143 430) 406 368 28 040 153 4 474 508 (47 550) 44 430 688 418

Dividends declared to 

non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – (2 022) (2 022)

Dividends to shareholders – – (15 117) – – – – – – (15 117)

Non-controlling interest 

acquired with business 

combination – – – – – – – – 2 174 2 174

Transactions with 

non-controlling interest 30 450 – – – – – – (16 856) (18 726) (5 132)

Share-based payment 

reserve movement – – – – – 15 177 – –  –  15 177

Profit for the year – – 65 214 – – – – – 10 653 75 867

Other comprehensive 

income for the year – – – (1 291) – – 510 – – (781)

At 31 May 2016 425 875 (143 430) 456 465 26 749 153 19 651 1 018 (64 406) 36 509 758 584

Dividends declared to 

non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – (2 357) (2 357)

Dividends to shareholders – – (20 156) – – – – – – (20 156)

Non-controlling interest 

acquired with business 

combination – – – – – – – (335) 335 –

Share-based payment 

reserve movement – – – – – 10 555 – – – 10 555

Profit for the year – – 72 968 – – – – – 10 808 83 776

Other comprehensive 

income for the year – – – 13 968 – – 700 – – 14 668

At 31 May 2017 425 875 (143 430) 509 277 40 717 153 30 206 1 718 (64 741) 45 295 845 070

Notes 16 17 8 21

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the fi nancial statements.
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for the year ended 31 May 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

Notes
2017

 R’000
2016 

R’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts 2 162 658 1 907 026

Cash paid to suppliers and employees 1 858 795 (1 644 112)

Cash generated from operations 15 303 863 262 914

Finance income 4 1 664 3 238

Finance costs 4 (59 289) (51 362)

Taxation paid 15.1 (18 626) (24 456)

Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (2 357) (2 022)

Dividend paid to shareholders (20 156) (15 117)

Net cash flows from operating activities 205 099 173 195

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 8 (69 547) (63 637)

Purchase of intangible assets 9 (5 303) (2 926)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 20 266 39 818

Acquisition of subsidiaries – (89 984)

Decrease in non-current receivables 693 1 030

Cash flow from associate (non-current held-for-sale) 6 17 823 13 492

Net cash flows used in investing activities (36 068) (102 207)

Cash flows from financing activities

Increase in borrowings 12 20 677 64 858

Repayment of borrowings (195 429) (190 638)

Net cash flows from financing activities (174 752) (130 912)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (5 721) (59 924)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 100 012 159 470

Exchange gain on cash resources 725 466

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 95 016 100 012

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the fi nancial statements.
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for the year ended 31 May 2017

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries Associates

Group accounting

Financial liabilities Deferred tax

Operating liabilities

Share capital and equity

Capital and reserves

Employment costs

Expenses

Logistical and related services Commercial vehicle repair services Sale of goods

Revenue recognition

Property, plant and 

equipment
Intangible assets Financial assets Leases

Operating assets

Summary of signifi cant accounting policies

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by defi nition, seldom equal 

the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fi nancial year are discussed below:

(a) Estimated residual values and useful lives of vehicles

  The residual values are based on published trade prices of similarly aged comparable assets. Management adjusts the residual 

values for current industry conditions. The useful life is determined by the estimated utilisation of the related asset.

(b) Fair value of property

  The fair values of the entities properties are valued by an independent valuer every three years. These valuations involve a signifi cant 

degree of judgement and estimation on which management has to make a fi nal decision.

(c) Impairment of goodwill

  Management uses the value-in-use method to determine the recoverable amount of goodwill as and when there are impairment 

indicators for intangible assets as there is no active market for these assets.
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Basis of preparation

The fi nancial statements have been prepared using a combination of the historical cost and fair value basis of accounting.

Prepared in accordance with:

¡  International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), SAICA Financial Reporting Guides, Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the 

Accounting Practices Committee;

¡  JSE Listings Requirements;

¡  Companies Act, 71 of 2008; and

¡  Going concern principles.

Functional and presentation currency

South African Rand.

Rounding principles

R’000 (thousand).

Foreign currency transactions

Procedures followed to translate to presentation currency.

In the consolidated fi nancial statements, the results and fi nancial position of a foreign operation are translated into Rand using the 

following procedures:

¡  Monetary assets and liabilities for each statement of fi nancial position presented are translated at the closing rate at reporting date.

¡  Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the 

exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency 

are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally recognised in profi t or loss.

¡  Income and expenses for each statement of profi t or loss and other comprehensive income are translated at the average exchange 

rates for the period as the exchange differences did not fl uctuate signifi cantly.

Subsidiaries

Recognition and measurement

Company

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less any accumulated impairment.

Group

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, which is the date on which the group obtains control of the subsidiary and 

continue to be consolidated until the date that control ceases.

The fi nancial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent 

accounting policies.

Non-controlling interest (“NCI”)

NCI are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifi able net assets at the date of acquisition, adjusted for their share 

of profi ts thereafter.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises from business combinations where the consideration paid exceeds the fair value of the net assets acquired (refer to 

intangible assets policy for further information). Where the consideration paid is less than the fair value of the net assets acquired a 

bargain purchase is recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income.

Inter-company transactions

All intergroup balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated in full in the consolidated fi nancial statements.
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for the year ended 31 May 2017

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Changes in ownership without change in control

The acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary is treated as a transaction with equity owners of the group. The difference between 

the carrying value of the non-controlling interest and the consideration paid is recognised in transactions with non-controlling interests. 

The reserve is a distributable reserve that can be moved to retained earnings.

Translation of foreign currencies

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Rand at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and 

expenses of foreign operations are translated into Rand at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Investment in associate
Recognition and measurement

The associate is accounted for using the equity method. Interest in equity-accounted investees are initially recognised at cost with the 

carrying amount adjusted to recognise the group’s share of the profi t and loss and other comprehensive income of the associate after 

acquisition less any dividends received. The group’s investment in associate includes goodwill recognised on acquisition.

Derecognition

Once a decision has been made in relation to the disposal of an associate, the related assets and liabilities are reclassifi ed to non-current 

assets/liabilities held-for-sale in terms of IFRS 5. At the point when the decision has been made, equity accounting is no longer applied.

Impairment

No impairment indicators were noted.

Property, plant and equipment

Categories

Initial 
measure-
ment

Subsequent 
measurement

Depreciation 
method Impairment Derecognition

Land and buildings Cost# Carried at the 

revaluation* amount 

(fair value less 

depreciation and 

accumulated 

impairment losses).

Land is not 

depreciated. All other 

property, plant and 

equipment is 

depreciated on a 

straight-line basis 

over the useful lives 

to its residual value.

No impairment 

indicators were 

noted during the 

year and no 

impairment was 

recognised.

Specific assets that are 

identified for disposal 

where the sale is 

decidedly probable to 

occur within the next 

12 months are classified 

as non-current assets 

held-for-sale in terms of 

IFRS 5.

Plant and equipment Cost less 

accumulated 

depreciation and 

accumulated 

impairment losses.

Vehicles

Office furniture and 

equipment

Computer equipment

Leasehold 

improvements

Depreciated over the 

shorter of its useful 

life or the period of 

the lease on a 

straight-line basis.

*  Revaluations are recognised through other comprehensive income to the revaluation reserve in equity. External valuations are performed at least every three years.

#  Major renovations are capitalised to the asset and depreciated over the remaining life of that asset, or to the date of the next major renovation. Repairs and 

maintenance are expensed as incurred.
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Intangible assets

Categories
Initial 
measurement

Subsequent 
measurement

Amortisation 
method Impairment

Goodwill Consideration paid in 

business combination 

less fair value of net 

assets acquired.

Initial cost less any 

impairment. Impairments 

are not subsequently 

reversed.

Goodwill is not 

amortised.

Allocated to cash-

generating units for 

impairment testing. 

Testing annually for 

impairment.

Purchased software Cost Cost less accumulated 

amortisation and 

accumulated impairment 

losses.

Amortised on a 

straight-line basis over 

their estimated useful 

lives.+

No impairment indicators 

were noted during the 

year and no impairment 

was recognised.

Other intangibles: 

Contractual customer 

relationships and supplier 

contracts

Research and 

development

Capitalised cost on 

design and testing of 

new of improved 

products.*#

Internally generated 

software

Capitalised cost for 

production of identifiable 

and unique software.#^

* Research costs are expensed as incurred.

# Development costs recognised as asset when meeting IAS 38: Intangible Assets recognition criteria for development costs.

^ Costs associated with developing and maintaining computer software programs are expensed as incurred.

+ For research and development this commences when the development is complete and available for use.

Leases

Classification Operating leases Finance leases

Leases of vehicles and buildings where the 

group obtains substantially all of the risks 

and rewards are classified as finance 

leases. All other leases are classified as 

operating leases.

Operating leases are accounted for on a 

straight-line basis over the period of the 

lease term.

Finance lease assets are capitalised at 

inception and treated in terms of the 

property, plant and equipment accounting 

policy.

The corresponding finance lease liability is 

allocated between the liability portion and 

the finance charges and treated in terms of 

the financial instruments accounting policy.
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for the year ended 31 May 2017

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Deferred taxation

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 

liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated fi nancial statements. The deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises 

from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction 

affects neither accounting nor taxable profi t or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted 

or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or 

the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profi t will be available, against which the 

temporary differences can be utilised. The estimated future taxable profi ts are based on management’s forecasts and budgets.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current 

tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on 

either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Financial instruments
Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised on trade date, when the group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Classification

Instruments included in the 
classification and the criteria 
for classification Initial measurement

Subsequent 
measurement

Loans and receivables Including trade and other 

receivables, loans and other 

receivables and cash and cash 

equivalent.

Fair value plus direct 

transaction costs.

Amortised costs using the 

effective interest rate method, 

less impairment.

Impairment

Criteria the entity uses to 

determine that there is objective 

evidence that an Impairment 

loss has occurred (including 

measurement)

Loans and receivables: Trade and other receivables

An estimate of any impairment is made to a provision account through the statement of 

comprehensive income on individual receivables. Objective evidence that the collection of the full 

amount under the original terms of the invoice is no longer probable would include indicators such 

as significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or 

financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency of payments. Impaired debts are derecognised 

when they are assessed as uncollectible.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions to deliver cash or another fi nancial 

asset to another entity.

Classification

Instruments included in the 
classification and the criteria 
for classification Initial measurement

Subsequent 
measurement

Financial liabilities at 

amortised cost

Including interest-bearing borrowings 

and trade and other payables

Fair value plus direct 

transaction costs

Amortised costs using the 

effective interest rate method

Financial instruments are derecognised when they are received, settled or the obligation is extinguished.

Employee benefi ts

OneLogix identifi es four types of employee benefi ts which are accounted for in accordance with IAS 19 and IFRS 2:

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Includes Sick leave, bonuses, medical care and leave pay.

Accounting treatment The expected cost of profit-sharing and bonus payments is recognised in the period in which the service 

is rendered and is not discounted. It is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive 

obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

The expected cost of short-term accumulating absences is recognised as the employees render services 

that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating leave, when the absence occurs. 

Accrued leave is measured as the amount that the company expects to pay as a result of unused 

entitlement that has accumulated to the employees at the reporting date.

Termination benefits

Description Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or 

when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.

Accounting treatment The group recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating the 

employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or 

providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.

Post-employment benefits

Defined contribution plan/

plan pension obligations

Group companies operate various pension schemes. The schemes are funded through payments to 

insurance companies or trustee-administered funds. The group contributes a monthly contribution to 

these funds and does not bear any further responsibility thereafter. These funds are managed by various 

portfolio managers and are governed by the Pension Funds Act, 24 of 1956.

Accounting treatment The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when the related service is rendered. 

Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the 

future payments is available.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefi ts (continued)

Employee benefits

Share-based payments

Description The group operates two equity-settled, share-based compensation plans, under which the entity receives 

services from employees as consideration for equity instruments of the group.

Accounting treatment The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the shares is recognised as 

an expense over the vesting period. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair 

value of the granted shares:

¡  including any market performance conditions;

¡  excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (for example, 

profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over a specified time period); 

and

¡  including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the requirement for employees to save 

or holding shares for a specific period of time).

At the end of each reporting period, the group revises its estimates of the number of options that are 

expected to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions and service conditions. It recognises the 

impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the statement of comprehensive income, with a 

corresponding adjustment to equity.

The grant by the company of options over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary 

undertakings in the group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received, 

measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to 

investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent entity financial 

statements.

Recognition of income

Includes Recognition Measurement

Revenue

Logistical and related 

services

Delivery and storage of motor 

vehicles and general and 

abnormal transport of goods, 

agricultural related goods, 

commodities, liquids and gas.

Delivery: Once the consignment 

has been delivered.

Storage: As and when it is utilised.

The fair value of the sales of 

services, net of value added tax, 

rebates and discounts after 

eliminating sales within the group.

Commercial vehicle 

repair services

Repairs to commercial motor 

vehicles.

Once the repair has been 

completed.

Sales of goods Ad hoc fuel sales and vehicle 

repairs.

On delivery or completion. The fair value of the agreed 

amount.

OneLogix Group Integrated annual report 2017

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
82



New accounting pronouncements adopted
Statements and interpretations issued and not yet effective

The group has chosen not to early adopt the following standard and interpretations which have been published and are mandatory for 

the group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2017 or later periods.

Standard Accounting standard/interpretation Type

Effective 
date

applicable
Impact on the 
financial statements

IFRS 2 CLARIFYING SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ACCOUNTING Amendment 1 June 

2018

No expected change as 

the group’s share-based 

payments are equity-

settled and not cash-

settled.

Currently, there is ambiguity over how a company should 

account for certain types of share-based payment 

arrangements. The IASB has responded by publishing 

amendments to IFRS 2: Share-based Payment.

The amendments cover three accounting areas:

Measurement of cash-settled share-based payments

The new requirements do not change the cumulative amount 

of expense that is ultimately recognised, because the total 

consideration for a cash-settled share-based payment is still 

equal to the cash paid on settlement.

Classification of share-based payments settled net of tax 

withholdings

The amendments introduce an exception stating that, for 

classification purposes, a share-based payment transaction 

with employees is accounted for as equity-settled if certain 

criteria are met.

Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment 

from cash-settled to equity-settled

The amendments clarify the approach that companies are to 

apply.

The new requirements could affect the classification and/or 

measurement of these arrangements – and potentially the 

timing and amount of expense recognised for new and 

outstanding awards.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

New accounting pronouncements adopted (continued)

Statements and interpretations issued and not yet effective (continued)

Standard Accounting standard/interpretation Type

Effective 
date

applicable
Impact on the 
financial statements

IFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS New 1 June 

2018

The group’s business 

model is to hold and 

collect and the group 

only pays capital and 

interest, therefore our 

financial instruments are 

unlikely to change.

Classification and measurement of financial assets

¡  all financial assets are initially measured at fair value;

¡  debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value 

through profit of loss;

¡  amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 

income;

¡  equity instruments are measured at fair value through profit 

or loss.

IFRS 15 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS New 1 June

2018

The group has embarked 

on a process to identify 

all contracts and assess 

the impact thereof on 

the group. No significant 

impact is expected.

New standard that requires entities to recognise revenue to 

depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 

customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to 

which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those 

goods or services. This core principle is achieved through a 

five-step methodology that is required to be applied to all 

contracts with customers.

IFRS 16 LEASES New 1 June 

2019 

Expected to result in a 

restatement of numerous 

of our operating leases 

to recognising the ‘right 

of use assets’ together 

with the related lease 

liabilities. Also expected 

to result in additional 

disclosures. Identifying 

further impacts is 

included in the process 

driven IFRS 15.

New standard that introduces a single lessee accounting 

model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities 

for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the 

underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to 

recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the 

underlying leased asset and a lease ability representing its 

obligation to make lease payments.

IFRS 7 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS New 1 June 

2017

Expected to result in 

additional disclosures.Require entities to disclose information about changes in their 

financing liabilities.
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for the year ended 31 May 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Segment information

The executive committee considers the business from both a geographical basis and business type, being the abnormal logistics, 

and primary products logistics segments. All revenues are currently derived from operating segments within South Africa. The 

Zambian and Zimbabwean operations derive their revenues from Vehicle Delivery Services as intergroup revenue. This intergroup 

revenue has been eliminated within the segment.

The reportable segments have been identifi ed as follows and derive their revenue from the following operations:

¡  Abnormal Logistics: The movement of product requiring abnormal load sanction from the relevant state authorities. Services 

revenue from Vehicle Delivery Services, Commercial Vehicle Delivery Services and OneLogix Projex; and

¡  Primary Products Logistics: The movement of loads which are in the early stages of a product value chain. Service revenue 

from United Bulk, Vision Transport, Cryogas Express, OneLogix Linehaul, Jackson Transport and Buffelshoek Transport.

The other reconciling item includes operating segments which do not meet the individual quantitative threshold for separate 

reporting, being Quasar Software Accounting, Atlas360 Commercial Vehicle Services and OneLogix Cargo Solutions.

The group’s executive committee assesses the performance of the operating segments based on trading profi t. This measure 

excludes share-based payments, profi t or loss on sale of assets, share of profi t from associate, net fi nance costs and taxation 

expense.

The total assets and total liabilities of the segments presented in the segmental analysis exclude intergroup loans, taxation 

payable or receivable and deferred tax. Consolidation entries are shown as part of corporate items.

No single customer contributed more than 10% of revenues in the current year.

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

1.1 Segmental analysis

Revenue

Abnormal logistics 933 245 881 761

Primary products logistics 907 394 767 017

Reportable segments 1 840 639 1 648 778

Other 155 249 129 827

1 995 888 1 778 605

Segment results

Abnormal logistics 100 963 96 018

Primary products logistics 101 739 106 250

Reportable segments 201 702 202 268

Other 12 882 (1 787)

Corporate items (48 866) (49 455)

Trading profit (excluding restructuring costs) 165 718 151 026

Restructuring costs (4 444) –
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 31 May 2017

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

1. Segment information (continued)

1.1 Segmental analysis (continued)

Trading profit 161 274 151 026

Unallocated:

Share-based payments – employees (10 555) (15 177)

Loss on sale of assets (2 573) (7)

Operating profit 148 146 135 842

Total assets

Abnormal logistics 645 763 821 003

Primary products logistics 827 158 761 654

Reportable segments 1 472 921 1 582 657

Non-current assets held-for-sale 256 380 –

Other 66 291 57 221

Corporate items 51 797 50 699

Investment in associate – 36 785

Taxation and deferred taxation 3 563 3 771

1 850 952 1 731 133

Total liabilities

Abnormal logistics 258 159 445 601

Primary products logistics 391 389 346 762

Reportable segments 649 548 792 363

Non-current liabilities held-for-sale 156 416 –

Other 48 136 37 106

Corporate items 19 988 17 442

Taxation and deferred taxation 131 794 125 638

1 005 882 972 549

2.1 Revenue

Services rendered

Logistical and related services 1 871 394 1 651 942

Commercial vehicle repair services 114 821 95 170

Other services 1 775 2 225

1 987 990 1 749 337

Sale of goods 7 898 29 268

1 995 888 1 778 605
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2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

2.2 Fuel and motor vehicle expenses

Fuel 457 343 398 996

Repairs and maintenance 131 604 114 632

Licences and other expenses 28 790 14 639

617 737 528 267

2.3 Other operating expenses

The following significant items have been included in other operating expenses:

Repairs and maintenance expenditure 4 797 4 942

Operating lease rentals

 Property 24 691 20 397

 Office equipment 1 877 1 382

Foreign exchange (gain)/loss 189 (803)

Auditors’ remuneration

 Audit fees 3 075 5 094

 Other services 80 –

Insurance and claims 36 013 39 936

Customs, clearing and visa costs 33 441 30 576

Subcontractors’ fees 99 092 82 126

Toll fees 68 364 59 551

Security 16 652 20 213

Other expenses 117 239 133 446

Cost of repairs for external customers 71 218 58 142

476 728 455 002

3. Employment costs

Short-term benefits

 Salaries and wages 547 690 480 641

 Staff recruitment 365 754

 Staff training 11 838 12 507

 Staff relocation 67 189

Termination benefits

 Staff retrenchment 4 444 –

Post-employment benefits

 Contributions to defined contribution plans 42 870 37 005

 Share-based compensation charges 10 555 15 177

617 829 546 273
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 31 May 2017

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

4. Finance (cost)/income

Finance income

Bank 929 2 503

Interest on loan to management of OneLogix Projex Proprietary Limited 735 735

1 664 3 238

Finance cost

Instalment sale and mortgage bond liabilities (58 604) (48 095)

Other (35) (2 693)

Overdrafts (650) (574)

(59 289) (51 362)

5. Taxation

Current taxation

Current year South African normal tax 19 127 22 092

Foreign taxation 20 400

19 147 22 492

Deferred taxation

Current year 2 065 (3 629)

Prior year overprovision (254) –

1 811 (3 629)

20 958 18 863

The taxation on the group’s and company’s profit before taxation differs from the theoretical 

amount that would arise using the basic tax rate as follows:

Profit before taxation 104 734 84 730

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 28% (2016: 28%) 29 326 26 524

Share-based payment charged not deductible for tax purposes 2 955 4 233

Other expenses not deductible for tax purposes 757 802

Prior year overprovision (254) –

Tax attributed to equity accounted earnings (3 980) (1 768)

Foreign tax rate differential (111) 166

Deductions granted by SARS1 (7 735) (10 561)

Income received not taxable – (337)

Gain on acquisition not taxable – (196)

Taxation 20 958 18 863

Further information about deferred taxation is presented in note 13.

1.  These deductions relate to learnership allowances granted by SARS in terms of s12(h) of the Income Tax Act.
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6. Non-current assets and liabilities held-for-sale

The sales of the Umlaas Road Properties and our 49% investment in our associate DriveRisk are regarded as “decidedly probable” 

in terms of the accounting standards. The sales will only be confirmed once certain conditions precedent have been obtained.

On the statement of financial position the respective carrying values of our investment in DriveRisk and the Umlaas Road 

Properties, are included under “non-current assets held-for-sale” and liabilities directly related to the Umlaas Road Properties 

are included under “non-current liabilities held-for-sale”.

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

Breakdown of carrying amounts on statement of financial position

Non-current assets held-for-sale

 Umlaas Road Properties 223 204 –

 DriveRisk 33 176 –

256 380 –

Non-current liabilities held-for-sale

 Umlaas Road Properties 156 416 –

Cash flows from associate

Investing activities

Dividend received from DriveRisk 18 130 13 492

Elimination of profit paid to DriveRisk (307) –

17 823 13 492

The Umlaas Road Properties was previously disclosed under the abnormal logistics segment.

7. Earnings, headline earnings and core headline earnings per share

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Audited 
year ended

 31 May 
2017

 R’000

Audited 
year ended 

31 May 
2016 

R’000

Net number of shares in issue (’000)

 Total issued less treasury shares 251 946 251 946

 Weighted 251 946 250 488

 Diluted 251 946 250 488

 Diluted measure for core earnings purposes 251 946 253 646

Earnings per share measures (cents)

Basic and diluted basic earnings per share 29,0 26,0

Headline and diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 29,6 25,7

Core headline earnings per share (cents) 36,9 34,6

Diluted core headline earnings per share (cents) 36,9 34,1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 31 May 2017

Audited 
year ended

 31 May 
2017

 R’000

Audited 
year ended 

31 May 
2016 

R’000

7. Earnings, headline earnings and core headline earnings per share (continued)

Reconciliation of earnings to headline earnings and core headline earnings

Profit attributable to owners of the parent 72 968 65 214

Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment less taxation and 

non-controlling interests 1 649 (81)

Gain on acquisition – (699)

Headline earnings 74 617 64 434

Share-based payments 10 555 15 177

Amortisation of intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination less 

taxation and non-controlling interests 7 826 6 993

Core headline earnings 92 998 86 604

Analysis of reconciling amounts between earnings, headline earnings and core headline earnings

Gross 
amount 

R’000

Income 
tax 

R’000

Non-
controlling 

interest 
R’000

Net 
amount 

R’000

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 573 (719) (205) 1 649

Share-based payments 10 555 – – 10 555

Amortisation of intangible assets acquired as part of a business 

combination 11 353 (2 717) (810) 7 826

There was no dilutionary effect on any EPS and HEPS as there are no dilutionary instruments in issue. There was no dilutionary 

effect on core HEPS during the current year as the volume weighted average share price was below the consideration due from 

the employee participation schemes, to which potential dilution in issued ordinary shares relates.

Core headline earnings is presented which are headline earnings (as calculated based on SAICA circular 2/2015) adjusted for the 

amortisation charge of intangibles recognised on business combinations and charges relating to share-based payments, as this is 

the basis that management uses to evaluate the performance of the group’s operations.

Dividends declared

A dividend of 8 cents per share was declared and paid during the year under review (2016: 6 cents per share). A final dividend of 

5 cents per share was declared after year-end.
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Lease-
hold

 improve-
ments
 R’000

Land and
 buildings

 R’000

Plant and 
equipment

 R’000
Vehicles 

R’000

Office
 furniture 

and
 equipment

 R’000

Computer 
equipment 

R’000
Total 

R’000

8. Property, plant and equipment

Useful life (years) * 10 to 30 4 to 10 4 to 15 5 to 10 2 to 3

Year ended 31 May 2017

Opening carrying amount 4 484 355 302 10 150 759 498 3 243 3 797 1 136 474

Additions – Expansion 2 089 24 156 9 745 131 505 1 691 2 209 171 395

Additions – Replacement 1 116 – 192 56 689 245 835 59 077

Revaluations – 18 000 – – – – 18 000

Disposals (34) – (106) (22 625) (26) (47) (22 838)

Depreciation charge (3 241) (6 505) (3 719) (102 363) (1 192) (2 696) (119 716)

Foreign exchange differences – – – (23) – (1) (24)

Transfers – 17 32 77 (133) 7 –

Transfer to non-current assets 

held-for-sale (note 6) – (223 204) – – – – (223 204)

Transfer to inventory – – (86) (308) – – (394)

Closing carrying amount 4 414 167 766 16 208 822 450 3 828 4 104 1 018 770

At 31 May 2017

Cost and revaluations 30 959 187 602 35 637 1 257 898 13 224 24 999 1 550 319

Accumulated depreciation (26 545) (19 836) (19 429) (435 448) (9 396) (20 895) (531 549)

Carrying amount 4 414 167 766 16 208 822 450 3 828 4 104 1 018 770

Year ended 31 May 2016

Opening carrying amount 8 086 257 222 10 774 567 030 2 821 4 014 849 947

Additions – Expansion 376 103 473 2 429 136 584 1 541 2 351 246 754

Additions – Replacement – – 2 71 090 6 26 71 124

Acquisition of subsidiaries – – 51 90 167 20 54 90 292

Disposals – – – (19 738) – (2) (19 740)

Depreciation charge (3 978) (5 395) (3 456) (85 320) (1 148) (2 652) (101 949)

Foreign exchange differences – 2 – 35 3 6 46

Transfers – – 350 (350) – – –

Closing carrying amount 4 484 355 302 10 150 759 498 3 243 3 797 1 136 474

At 31 May 2016

Cost and revaluations 28 039 381 367 27 184 1 125 637 12 241 22 943 1 597 393

Accumulated depreciation (23 555) (26 065) (17 034) (366 139) (8 998) (19 146) (460 919)

Carrying amount 4 484 355 302 10 150 759 498 3 243 3 797 1 136 474

*  Shorter of useful life or period of lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 31 May 2017

8. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Details of assets pledged as security are disclosed in note 12.

The land and buildings were revalued during the current year by independent valuers. The method used to value the properties was 

based on the net income capitalisation method.

The fair value at 31 May 2017 of land and buildings is R167,8 million (2016: R355,3 million) as a result of the Umlaas Road 

Properties being classified as non-current assets held-for-sale at a carrying value of R223,2 million. If land and buildings were to 

be recognised at cost, the carrying amount would have been R115,3 million (2016: R322,2 million). This is a level 3 fair value. This 

method determines the net normalised annual income of property, assuming that the property is fully let at market-related rentals, 

and market escalations, with an allowance made for vacancies (where applicable). Market-related operating expenses are incurred, 

resulting in a net annual income which is then capitalised at a market-related rate. The capitalisation rate is determined from the 

market (ie rate at which similar assets have traded recently), and is influenced in general by: rates of return of similar properties, 

risk, obsolescence, inflation, market rentals growth rates, rates of return on other investments, as well as mortgage rates. In 

determining the rate of capitalisation we have taken the following into account:

¡  Demand experienced in this particular node;

¡  Lack of vacancies in the area;

¡  Condition of the buildings;

¡  Exposure to busy main roads; and

¡  Location of area.

Capitalisation rate

The inherent aspects of the subject property, its size, location and risk profile determines the final capitalisation rate applied. The 

current market trend in capitalisation rates also has to be considered. The group applied rates between 10% and 12% to the 

properties due to their location, quality and condition of the improvements.

Reconciliation to revaluation reserve included in equity:

Land and 
buildings

2017 
R’000

Land and
 buildings 

2016 
R’000

Revaluation reserve at the beginning of the year 34 470 34 470

Deferred tax recognised (7 721) (6 430)

Revaluation reserve net of tax 26 749 28 040

Current year revaluation of properties 18 000 –

Deferred tax recognised on current year’s revaluation (4 032) –

Deferred tax recognised due to change in CGT inclusion rate – (1 291)

Revaluation reserve at the end of the year 40 717 26 749
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8. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Asset additions financed through instalment sale agreements have been removed from the additions as per the statement of cash 

flows in order to disclose only those additions paid in cash.

Reconciliation of additions paid in cash:

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

Total additions of property, plant and equipment 230 472 317 878

Less: Non-cash additions (160 925) (254 241)

Total cash additions as per statement of cash flows 69 547 63 637

Goodwill
 R’000

Internally
 generated

 software
 R’000

Purchased 
software

 R’000

Other
 intangibles

 R’000
Total 

R’000

9. Intangible assets

Year ended 31 May 2017

Opening carrying amount 92 528 5 292 729 65 175 163 724

Additions 2 312 2 862 129 – 5 303

Amortisation charge – (2 052) (551) (10 556) (13 159)

Closing carrying amount 94 840 6 102 307 54 619 155 868

At 31 May 2017

Cost 94 840 19 561 1 699 87 413 203 513

Accumulated amortisation – (13 459) (1 392) (32 794) (47 645)

Closing carrying amount 94 840 6 102 307 54 619 155 868

Useful life (years) 5 to 10 2 to 3 *

Year ended 31 May 2016

Opening carrying amount 73 863 5 002 530 52 789 132 184

Additions – 2 216 710 – 2 926

Acquisition of business – – – 2 551 2 551

Acquisition of subsidiaries 18 665 – – 18 663 37 328

Amortisation charge – (1 926) (511) (8 828) (11 265)

Closing carrying amount 92 528 5 292 729 65 175 163 724

At 31 May 2016

Cost 92 528 16 699 1 570 87 413 198 210

Accumulated amortisation – (11 407) (841) (22 238) (34 486)

Closing carrying amount 92 528 5 292 729 65 175 163 724

Useful life (years) 5 2 to 3 *

* See analysis of other intangibles.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 31 May 2017

9. Intangible assets (continued)

Reconciliation of additions paid in cash:

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

Total additions of intangible assets 5 303 5 477

Less: Non-cash additions – (2 551)

Total cash additions as per statement of cash flows 5 303 2 926

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to nine of the group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”), as set out below.

The group annually tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with its accounting policy. The 

recoverable amounts of CGUs have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of 

estimates.

These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. 

Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using an estimated growth rate of 5% (2016: 5%).

Management determined budgeted gross margins based on past performance and its expectations for the market development. 

The weighted average growth rates beyond a one-year period are consistent with the expectations of management and are in the 

range of 5% to 6% (2016: 5% to 8%). Pre-tax discount rates of between 21% and 24% (2016: 22% to 37%) reflect specific risks 

relating to the relevant CGU.

There has been no material acquisition during the year.

The attributable goodwill allocated to the CGUs is as follows:

Goodwill 
31 May 

2017 
R’000

Goodwill 
31 May 

2016 
R’000

Atlas360 Commercial Vehicle Services Proprietary Limited 25 25

Quasar Software Development Proprietary Limited 313 313

OneLogix Cargo Solutions Proprietary Limited 3 032 3 032

OneLogix Projex Proprietary Limited 8 234 8 234

Buffelshoek Transport SA Proprietary Limited 9 669 9 669

Jackson Transport Proprietary Limited 16 009 16 009

United Bulk Proprietary Limited 17 406 17 406

Vision Transport Proprietary Limited 18 665 18 665

Vehicle Delivery Services (Division of OneLogix Proprietary Limited) 21 487 19 175

94 840 92 528
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9. Intangible assets (continued)

Analysis of other intangibles:

Supplier 
contract 

R’000

Customer
 relationships 

R’000

Information 
technology 

R’000
Total 

R’000

Year ended 31 May 2017

Opening carrying value 3 442 61 509 224 65 175

Amortisation charge (751) (9 581) (224) (10 556)

Closing carrying amount 2 691 51 928 – 54 619

At 31 May 2017

Cost 4 944 81 352 1 117 87 413

Accumulated amortisation (2 253) (29 424) (1 117) (32 794)

Closing carrying amount 2 691 51 928 – 54 619

Useful life (years) 4 4 to 7 – –

Year ended 31 May 2016

Opening carrying value 4 193 48 148 448 52 789

Acquisition of subsidiaries – 18 663 – 18 663

Acquisition of business – 2 551 – 2 551

Amortisation charge (751) (7 853) (224) (8 828)

Closing carrying amount 3 442 61 509 224 65 175

At 31 May 2016

Cost 4 944 81 352 1 117 87 413

Accumulated amortisation (1 502) (19 843) (893) (22 238)

Closing carrying amount 3 442 61 509 224 65 175

Useful life (years) 5 5 to 8 1

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

10. Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables 266 798 243 087

Provision for impairment (3 459) (375)

Other receivables and prepayments 28 111 14 751

Sundry loans 108 125

VAT receivable 458 1 539

292 016 259 127

The group has provided various financial institutions with a first cession over its book debts with a carrying value of R263,4 million 

(2016: R242,7 million) in order to secure credit facilities (refer to note 12).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 31 May 2017

10. Trade and other receivables (continued)

The age analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

Gross 
2017 

R’000

Impairment 
2017 

R’000

Gross 
2016

R’000

Impairment 
2016 

R’000

Fully performing 214 918 – 179 364 –

Past due not impaired: 30 to 60 days 35 756 – 49 534 –

Past due not impaired: 60 to 90 days 7 934 – 7 934 –

Past due not impaired: 90 days and over 4 731 – 5 880 –

Past due and impaired: 90 days and over 3 459 (3 459) 375 (375)

Total 266 798 (3 459) 243 087 (375)

The standard credit terms across the group is 30 days.

R’000

Reconciliation of impairment provision

Balance as at 1 June 2015 697

Increase in provision during the year 687

Bad debts written of during the year (1 009)

Balance as at 31 May 2016 375

Increase in provision during the year 3 366

Bad debts written off during the year (282)

3 459

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables has been included in “other expenses” in comprehensive income 

(note 2.3). Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering 

additional cash.

Other receivables and sundry loans are not overdue or impaired including the prior year amounts. All trade and other receivables 

are denominated in South African Rand other than R7 million (2016: R8,1 million) which is denominated in US Dollar.

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

11. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand and on-demand deposits 95 016 100 012

95 016 100 012
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2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

12. Interest-bearing borrowings

Current

Instalment sale liabilities 146 175 140 969

Mortgage bond liabilities 4 703 20 120

Loan from DriveRisk Proprietary Limited – 3 566

150 878 164 655

Non-current 

Instalment sale liabilities 294 699 290 082

Mortgage bond liabilities 15 298 176 381

309 997 466 463

Total borrowings 460 875 631 118

Maturity of non-current borrowings

Between one and two years 120 529 136 728

Later than two years and not later than five years 187 463 325 023

Later than five years 2 005 4 712

309 997 466 463

Effective interest rates % %

Instalment sale liabilities 9,36 9,15

Mortgage bond liabilities 9,80 9,95

Loan from DriveRisk Proprietary Limited – 8,75

Refer to note 20.5 for the contractual maturity analysis.

Securities 

1.  Instalment sale liabilities are secured over vehicles with a net carrying value of R595,5 million (2016: R561,9 million). The 

instalment sale liabilities bear interest at rates varying from prime plus 1% to prime less 1,6% and are repayable over no more 

than five years.

2.  Mortgage bond liabilities are secured over land and buildings with a net carrying value of R167,8 million (2016: R355,3 million). 

Certain of the mortgage bond liabilities bear interest at fixed rates, while the remaining bear interest at variable rates. The carrying 

value of the fixed rate liabilities is R9,1 million (2016: R10,6 million) opposed to a fair value of R9 million (2016: R10,3 million).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 31 May 2017

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

12. Interest-bearing borrowings (continued)

Movement in interest-bearing borrowings

Balance at the beginning of the year 631 118 459 961

Borrowings raised 20 677 64 858

Borrowings repaid (195 429) (190 638)

Borrowings raised on non-cash flow additions to property, plant and equipment 160 925 254 241

Borrowings raised on non-cash additions to intangible assets – 2 551

Borrowings acquired as part of a business combination – 40 145

Transferred to non-current liabilities held-for-sale (156 416) –

Balance at the end of the year 460 875 631 118

Borrowing capacity of the group is sufficient to fund the ongoing asset-based finance requirements of the group.

Available facilities at 31 May 2017 amounted to R78,2 million (2016: R168,4 million).

13. Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using a principal tax rate of 28% (2016: 28%). 

The movement on deferred taxation is as follows:

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

At the beginning of the year (121 371) (104 352)

Profit movement (2 065) 3 629

Charged to other comprehensive income (4 032) (1 291)

On acquisition of subsidiary – (19 357)

Prior year overprovision 254 –

At the end of the year (127 214) (121 371)

The deferred tax liability balance comprises:

Capital allowances (164 076) (141 173)

(164 076) (141 173)

The deferred tax asset balance comprises:

Provisions and other 9 393 7 852

Tax losses carried forward 27 469 11 950

36 862 19 802

Deferred tax liability (net) (127 214) (121 371)
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13. Deferred taxation (continued)

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when the income tax relates to the same fiscal authority and there is a legal right 

to offset at settlement. The following amounts are shown in the consolidated statement of financial position:

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

Classification in statement of financial position

Deferred tax assets 1 308 2 049

Deferred tax liabilities (128 522) (123 420)

Net deferred tax liabilities (127 214) (121 371)

The tax losses are attributable to various subsidiaries that are expected to generate taxable profits in the foreseeable future.

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

14. Trade and other payables

Trade payables 169 515 132 553

Bonus accrual 13 983 13 346

Leave pay accrual 15 123 13 911

Payroll-related accrual 15 761 12 167

Workman’s Compensation accrual 2 105 2 407

Audit fee accrual 3 065 3 950

VAT payable 9 818 10 329

Accruals for other liabilities and charges 25 748 25 490

Unclaimed capital distributions and dividends 1 679 1 640

256 797 215 793

Trade payables are non interest-bearing and are generally on 30-day terms. Refer to note 20.5 for the contractual maturity analysis.

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

15. Cash generated from operations

Reconciliation of operating profit to cash flows from operating activities:

Operating profit 148 146 135 842

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 119 716 101 949

Amortisation of intangible assets 13 159 11 265

Share-based payments 10 555 15 177

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 573 7

Changes in working capital:

Movement in inventories 1 602 (919)

Movement in trade and other receivables (32 889) (16 639)

Movement in trade and other payables 41 001 16 232

303 863 262 914
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 31 May 2017

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

15. Cash generated from operations (continued)

15.1 Taxation paid

Current tax liability at 1 June (496) (6 592)

Current tax provided (19 147) (22 492)

Acquisition of a subsidiary – 4 132

Current tax liability at 31 May 1 017 496

Taxation paid (18 626) (24 456)

Number of 
shares 

2017

Number of 
shares 

2016

16. Stated capital

Authorised

The total authorised number of ordinary shares 500 000 000 500 000 000

Number of 
shares 

2017

Number of 
shares 

2016
2017 

R’000
2016 

R’000

Issued

Balance at the beginning of the year 289 923 181 284 123 181 425 875 395 425

Shares issued to non-controlling interest – 5 800 000 – 30 450

Balance at the end of the year 289 923 181 289 923 181 425 875 425 875

17. Treasury shares

Treasury shares at the beginning of the year 37 976 892 38 020 106 143 430 143 430

Treasury shares allocated to participants of the share scheme – (43 214) – –

Treasury shares at the end of the year 37 976 892 37 976 892 143 430 143 430

18. Related-party transactions

18.1 Related parties included the following:

¡  Subsidiaries and associate (note 21)

¡  Directors (refer to directors’ report)

¡  Directors of subsidiary companies

¡  The company has no controlling shareholder as it is widely held
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18. Related-party transactions (continued)

18.2 Leases on properties have been entered into with companies controlled by directors and directors of subsidiaries. Escalations 

on these leases vary from CPI to fixed escalations of between 6% and 8% and the remaining lease periods range from six 

months to five years and six months. The lease commitments have been calculated based on the remaining period of the 

various agreements by applying the estimated escalations over the full period of the lease.

Details of property lease rentals paid to companies controlled by directors and directors of subsidiaries and associated future 

lease commitments are summarised below:

Current year Due within one year Due thereafter

Related-party
Relationship to 
OneLogix

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

NJ Bester Director 812 766 430 405 – –

PEJ Pols and M Vosloo Directors of subsidiary 3 236 2 996 3 497 3 236 14 552 1 947

J du Randt Director of subsidiary 1 950 1 805 2 101 1 950 3 998 6 080

BJ Venter* Director of subsidiary 442 316 – 510 – 1 001

6 440 5 883 6 028 6 101 18 550 9 028

* Resigned as director of subsidiary on 8 March 2017.

Short-term

Post- 
employment 

benefit Long-term

Gross 
salary 
R’000

Incentive 
R’000

Other
 R’000

Provident 
fund

 contribution 
R’000

IFRS 2 
charge

 relating to
 management
 participation 

scheme 
R’000

Total 
R’000

18.3 Directors’ remuneration

2017

Executive

NJ Bester 2 738 573 48 271 80 3 710

GM Glass 1 651 381 32 355 53 2 472

IK Lourens 2 652 573 43 375 80 3 723

CV McCulloch 2 494 573 39 514 80 3 700

9 535 2 100 162 1 515 293 13 605
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 31 May 2017

Short-term

Post- 
employment 

benefit Long-term

Gross 
salary 
R’000

Incentive 
R’000

Other
 R’000

Provident 
fund

 contribution 
R’000

IFRS 2 
charge

 relating to
 management
 participation 

scheme 
R’000

Total 
R’000

18. Related-party transactions 
(continued)

18.3 Directors’ remuneration 

(continued)

2016

Executive

NJ Bester 2 490 500 41 246 353 3 630

GM Glass 1 560 340 27 264 235 2 426

IK Lourens 2 445 500 41 306 353 3 645

CV McCulloch 2 246 500 36 489 353 3 624

8 741 1 840 145 1 305 1 294 13 325

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

Non-executive directors

DA Hirshowitz – 31

AJ Grant 129 117

B Mathews 107 54

SM Pityana 187 170

LJ Sennelo 121 110

K Schoeman 53 48

597 530

Executive directors

Gross remuneration 13 605 13 325

Non-executive directors

Fees 597 530

14 202 13 855

The executive directors are considered to be the only prescribed officers.

Total earnings of executive directors are based on a cost to company package.

The directors’ terms of employment are consistent with the standard terms of employment within the group.
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2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

19. Future capital expenditure

Authorised by director’s but not yet contracted for

Land and buildings 15 070 12 328

Vehicles 53 550 263 015

Other 11 941 10 942

80 561 286 285

Operating lease commitments

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Not later than one year 36 027 19 934

Later than one year and not later than five years 118 806 53 419

Later than five years 8 332 17 207

163 165 90 560

Operating lease commitments – group companies as lessee

The group leases various properties for use predominantly as vehicle storage facilities and for operational requirements under non-

cancellable operating lease agreements. The lease terms are between one and seven years, and the majority of the lease 

agreements are renewable at the end of the lease period at market rates.

The group leases various vehicles for use in the operations under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The lease terms are 

between five and seven years and not renewable at the end of the lease period.

The group also leases office equipment under operating non-cancellable lease agreements. The lease terms are between one and 

three years. The group is required to give a six-month notice for the termination of these agreements. The lease expenditure 

charged to profit during the year is disclosed in note 2.

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

Operating lease commitments breakdown per asset class

Property 106 588 87 037

Vehicles 54 087 –

Other 2 490 3 523

163 165 90 560

20. Financial instruments

20.1 Introduction

The group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, bank loans and instalment sale agreements. 

The main reason for these instruments is to finance the group’s operations. Other financial instruments such as trade and 

other receivables and trade and other payables arise directly as a consequence of the group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the group’s financial instruments are credit risk, market risks (interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. 

The group has no significant exposure to currency risk or price risk. The board reviews and agrees policies for managing 

each of these risks which are summarised below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 31 May 2017

20. Financial instruments (continued)

20.2 Credit risk

The most significant exposure to credit risk is in trade receivables and cash investments. The group only deposits short-term 

cash surpluses with banks of high credit ratings assigned by recognised credit-rating agencies.

The majority of customers have been contractually tied for some years and have proven credit risk ratings. The group policy 

is to evaluate credit worthiness of customers on an ongoing basis and renegotiate terms with these customers where the 

risk may be higher. We subscribe to a credit bureau who we utilise to evaluate the customer base as and when required. The 

group has experienced no significant default by any of its customers during the current year, but have made adequate 

provision for any potential credit default where necessary.

The group has a policy of insuring trade receivables that require a high amount of credit in relation to the margin achieved.

At 31 May 2017, the group did not consider there to be any significant credit risk that was not adequately provided for. Refer 

to note 10 for the quantitative analysis of credit risk.

The carrying amounts of financial assets included in the group’s statement of financial position represent the group’s 

exposure to credit risk in relation to these assets.

The profile of credit risk exposure consists mainly of original equipment manufacturers and large listed industrial groups.

20.3 Market risk and sensitivity analysis

The group has used a sensitivity analysis technique that measures the estimated change to the profit of either an 

instantaneous increase or decrease of 1% (100 basis points) in market interest rates from the rates applicable at 31 May 

2017, for each class of financial instrument.

Where practical fuel price risks are contractually covered with customers.

This analysis is for illustrative purposes only, as in practice market rates rarely change in isolation.

Interest rate risk

The group monitors its exposure to changeable interest rates and generally enters into agreements that are linked to market 

rates relative to the underlying asset or liability.

The interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that changes in the market interest rates affect the interest 

income or expense of variable interest financial instruments only.

Year

Increase/
decrease in

 basis points

Effect on
 profit before 

tax on 
interest rate

 increase
 R’000

Effect on
 profit before

 tax on
 interest rate

 decrease
 R’000

2017 100 (4 877) 4 877

2016 100 (5 217) 5 217
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20. Financial instruments (continued)

20.4 Liquidity risk

The group monitors risk to a shortage of funds by using strict working capital models and projected cash flow modelling. 

The cash flows from trade receivables and trade payables are well matched in that payment terms agreed with customers 

are replicated with suppliers. The group enforces current trade and credit terms to ensure a constant level of liquidity.

Current liabilities include short-term interest-bearing borrowings of R150,9 million (2016: R164,7 million) which are repayable 

over 12 months. The level of current assets is considered adequate to service current liabilities of the group.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities at 31 May 2017 based on contractual 

undiscounted cash flows.

Instalment 
sale 

liabilities 
R’000

Mortgage
 bond

 liabilities
 R’000

Loan from
 associate

 R’000

Trade 
payables

 R’000

Other
 payables 

and accruals
 R’000

20.5 Maturity profi le of fi nancial liabilities

Group at 31 May 2017

Within one month 14 335 531 – 169 515 27 402

Later than one month but not later than one year 165 173 5 845 – – –

Between one and two years 138 333 5 373 – – –

Later than two years but not later than five years 196 122 11 043 – – –

Later than five years – 2 138 – – –

Total 513 963 24 930 – 169 515 27 402

Less: Future finance charges (73 089) (4 929) – – –

Present value of liability 440 874 20 001 – 169 515 27 402

Non-current liabilities 294 699 15 298 – – –

Current liabilities 146 175 4 703 – – –

Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 440 874 20 001 – 169 515 27 402

The company’s current financial liabilities are all 

expected to be settled within the next 12 months.

Group at 31 May 2016

Within one month 17 082 3 219 – 132 553 27 130

Later than one month but not later than one year 153 204 35 410 3 566 – –

Between one and two years 134 855 38 629 – – –

Later than two years but not later than five years 191 696 175 324 – – –

Later than five years 160 5 038 – – –

Total 496 997 257 620 3 566 132 553 27 130

Less: Future finance charges (65 946) (61 119) – – –

Present value of liability 431 051 196 501 3 566 132 553 27 130

Non-current liabilities 290 082 176 381 – – –

Current liabilities 140 969 20 120 3 566 – –

Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 431 051 196 501 3 566 132 553 27 130
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 31 May 2017

20. Financial instruments (continued)

20.5 Maturity profi le of fi nancial liabilities (continued)

Maturity profile of future finance charges as at 31 May 2017

Instalment 
sale 

liabilities
 R’000

Mortgage 
bond 

liabilities
 R’000

Within one month 3 180 158

Later than one month but not later than one year 30 799 1 515

Between one and two years 21 906 1 263

Later than two years but not later than five years 17 204 1 545

Later than five years – 448

Total 73 089 4 929

20.5.1 Financial assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

Loans and other receivables

OneLogix Projex management loan 6 425 7 118

Trade and other receivables 263 442 242 837

Cash and cash equivalents 95 016 100 012

364 883 349 967

20.6 Capital risk management

The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order 

to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce 

the weighted average cost of capital. 

In order to maintain or adjust this capital structure, the group may issue new shares, pay a dividend to shareholders, return 

capital to shareholders or sell assets to reduce debt.

The group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio and considers a ratio of 40% to 50% as an optimal gearing ratio. 

The ratio is calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-current borrowings including non-current liabilities 

held-for-sale as shown on the statement of financial position) divided by total capital. Total capital is calculated as ordinary 

shareholders’ funds plus total borrowings. The gearing ratio for 2017 is 43,6% (2016: 46,6%).

The group is subject to externally imposed capital requirements arising in the ordinary course of securing financing facilities 

from debt providers and has complied with these requirements.

20.7 Net fair values

The carrying amounts of financial instruments approximates their fair values due to the short-term maturities of these assets 

and liabilities.
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Country

Effective 
percentage 

held 
2017 

%

Effective 
percentage

 held 
2016 

%

21. Interest in other entities

Details of companies are reflected below:

Directly held

Subsidiary of OneLogix Group Limited:

OneLogix Proprietary Limited RSA 100 100

OLI Trading Limited Mauritius 75 –

Indirectly held

Subsidiaries of OneLogix Proprietary Limited:

Commercial Vehicle Delivery Services Proprietary Limited1 RSA 100 100

Vehicle Delivery Services Zimbabwe (Pvt) Limited Zimbabwe 100 100

RFB Logistics Proprietary Limited1 RSA 100 100

PM Hire Proprietary Limited1 RSA 100 100

Madison Freightlines Proprietary Limited1 RSA 100 100

Atlas360 Commercial Vehicle Services Proprietary Limited RSA 71,3 71,3

OneLogix Projex Proprietary Limited RSA 86,9 86,9

Middle of the Road Proprietary Limited RSA 100 90

Quasar Software Development Proprietary Limited RSA 85 85

United Bulk Proprietary Limited RSA 100 100

OneLogix Linehaul Proprietary Limited RSA 75 75

Jackson Transport Proprietary Limited RSA 74 74

Jackson Fleet Proprietary Limited1 RSA 74 74

Buffelshoek Transport SA Proprietary Limited RSA 74 74

Buffelshoek Fleet Proprietary Limited1 RSA 74 74

Zatosat Proprietary Limited1 RSA 100 –

OneLogix Cargo Solutions Proprietary Limited RSA 69,5 69,5

Subsidiaries of United Bulk Proprietary Limited:

Vision Transport Proprietary Limited RSA 100 100

Cryogas Express Proprietary Limited RSA 74,2 74,2

Indirectly held

Associate of OneLogix Proprietary Limited

DriveRisk Proprietary Limited RSA 49 49

1. Dormant companies.

The group holds majority voting rights in all of the subsidiaries and minority voting rights in its associate. There are no significant 

judgements made in determining whether the group has control or significant influence.

All subsidiary companies have a 31 May year-end except for: Vehicle Delivery Services Zimbabwe (Pvt) Limited, which has a 

31 December year-end due to regulatory requirements in Zimbabwe. The results of this entity are consolidated for the 12 months 

ended 31 May.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 31 May 2017

21. Interest in other entities (continued)

The summarised financial information contained below relates to subsidiaries of the group that are considered to have significant 

non-controlling interests:

OneLogix Projex 
Proprietary Limited

Atlas360 Commercial 
Vehicle Services 

Proprietary Limited
 Jackson Transport 
Proprietary Limited

Buffelshoek 
Transport SA 

Proprietary Limited

2017 
R’000

2016 

R’000

2017 
R’000

2016 

R’000

2017 
R’000

2016 

R’000

2017 
R’000

2016 

R’000

Summarised statement 

of financial position

Non-current assets 45 739 51 155 5 221 7 507 112 579 105 839 60 442 56 337

Current assets 48 259 47 405 35 028 25 481 51 435 52 470 20 714 25 814

Total assets 93 998 98 560 40 549 32 988 164 014 158 309 81 156 82 151

Non-current liabilities 14 487 19 563 1 551 1 760 64 944 60 244 40 895 47 302

Current liabilities 37 649 31 114 17 411 17 445 47 941 64 285 17 263 16 352

Total liabilities 52 136 50 677 18 962 19 205 112 885 124 529 58 158 63 654

Accumulated non-

controlling interests 5 731 6 153 6 109 3 956 16 345 12 224 7 686 6 734

Summarised income 

statement

Revenue 224 183 180 401 118 814 102 367 248 921 237 087 104 426 87 212

Profit/(loss) for the year 11 295 9 636 7 065 (1 819) 16 383 14 501 3 893 4 983

Total comprehensive 

income 11 295 9 636 7 065 (1 819) 16 383 14 501 3 893 4 983

Profit/(loss) attributable to 

non-controlling interests 1 569 1 088 2 154 (522) 4 121 3 381 952 1 077

Dividends paid to non-

controlling interests 2 357 1 778 – – – – – –

Summarised statement of 

cash flows

Cash flows generated from 

operating activities 21 121 14 147 13 870 (388) 19 036 32 556 11 145 1 402

Cash flows utilised in 

investing activities (2 428) (5 525) (127) (328) 5 468 6 523 1 666 (314)

Cash flows (utilised in)/

generated from financing 

activities (16 238) (13 843) (15 088) 1 559 (26 464) (37 114) (11 219) (19 265)
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22. Share-based compensation

Share-based compensation schemes

The company has employee and management share-based compensation schemes in order to incentivise employees of the 

company.

OLG Esizayo Proprietary Limited and OLG Abaholi Proprietary Limited house the employee and management schemes respectively. 

Both schemes are settled in shares and are therefore considered equity-settled share-based payments.

Employee share-based compensation scheme

OLG Esizayo holds 24 917 929 OneLogix ordinary shares acquired for an aggregate amount of R89 380 613. OneLogix holds one 

non-convertible cumulative redeemable preference share with no par value for an aggregate amount of R89 384 613 in OLG 

Esizayo.

OLG Esizayo shares have been allocated to the employees of the group and will vest to the employees if they remain in employment 

of the group after five  years from 28 January 2015.

The preference shares are to be repaid at the vesting date.

The OneLogix shares held by OLG Esizayo are classified as treasury shares in terms of the application of IFRS 10 (see note 17). 

The share-based compensation charge to be recognised over the five-year vesting period was calculated with the assistance of 

valuation specialists using a Monte Carlo simulation model, which is considered the appropriate model to take into account the 

various inputs of the scheme. The estimated total charge amounts to R46 million which will be expensed over the five-year vesting 

period starting on 28 January 2015 and is not deductible for tax in terms of current taxation legislation.

The group recognised a total expense of R9,2 million (2016: R9,2 million) related to the OLG Esizayo share-based payment scheme 

for the current year. As at 31 May 2017 the group had a share-based payment equity reserve of R21,5 million (2016: R12,3 million) 

in the statement of changes in equity relating to the employee share-based compensation scheme.

Management share-based compensation scheme

In terms of the management share-based compensation scheme, OLG Abaholi holds 12 658 963 OneLogix ordinary shares 

acquired for an aggregate amount of R53 420 825. OneLogix holds one non-convertible cumulative redeemable participating 

preference share with no par value for an aggregate amount of R53 420 825 in OLG Abaholi OL as well as a “B” Ordinary Share for 

R1,00.

The benefit which the OLG Abaholi Participants (certain of whom are defined as “related parties” in terms of paragraph 10.1(b) 

of the Listings Requirements) derive from the OLG Abaholi Transaction will depend on the extent to which OneLogix achieves 

certain pre-determined earnings growth targets over a five-year period thereby aligning its interests with those of the shareholders 

of OneLogix.

The OLG Abaholi Preference Share will have certain preferential rights, including the right to a cumulative preference dividend 

arising from the distributions received from OneLogix during each dividend period less any operating costs of OLG Abaholi during 

the relevant dividend period (“net income”) and shall reduce on a sliding scale over a five-year period as set out in the table on the 

following page.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 31 May 2017

22. Share-based compensation (continued)

Management share-based compensation scheme (continued)

Period following the OLG Abaholi subscription date

Percentage 
of net 

income (%)

First year 100

Second year 80

Third year 60

Fourth year 40

Fifth year 20

Sixth year onwards –

The OLG Abaholi Participants shall subscribe for the OLG Abaholi “A” Ordinary Shares for a subscription price of R0,01 per share.

The OLG Abaholi “A” Ordinary Shares and the OLG Abaholi “B” Ordinary Shares will have different voting rights and rights to 

dividends and will be subject to different transfer restrictions, as set out in the OLG Abaholi memorandum of incorporation (“MOI”), 

the most notable difference being that the holder of OLG Abaholi “B” Ordinary Shares shall have the right to receive out of capital 

gains arising from the sale of any assets of OLG Abaholi or deemed capital gains arising from the distribution of any assets of OLG 

Abaholi, a preferred ordinary dividend based on the real growth rate of core headline earnings per share of OneLogix (as defined 

in the OLG Abaholi MOI) over a five-year period from the date of issue of the OLG Abaholi “B” Ordinary Share as follows:

¡  if the relevant growth rate is less than 4%, 100% of any capital gains;

¡  if the relevant growth rate is 4% or more, but less than or equal to 10%, 100% to 0% of any capital gains on a linear basis; or

¡  if the relevant growth rate is more than 10%, 0% of any capital gains, with the balance of any capital gains capable of being 

declared as a dividend to the holders of the OLG Abaholi “A” Ordinary Shares.

OLG Abaholi shares have been allocated to management employees of the group’s various entities and will vest to management if 

they remain in employment of the group after five years from 28 January 2015.

The OneLogix shares held by OLG Abaholi are classified as treasury shares in terms of the application of IFRS 10 (see note 17). 

The share-based compensation charge to be recognised over the five-year vesting period was calculated with the assistance of 

valuation specialists using a Monte Carlo simulation model, which is considered the appropriate model to take into account the 

various inputs of the scheme. The estimated total charge amounts to R12,4 million (2016: R29,3 million) which will be expensed 

over the five-year vesting period starting on 28 January 2016 and are non-tax deductible in terms of current taxation legislation. 

The valuation will be reassessed annually to take into account the expected number of shares that will vest.

The group recognised a total expense of R1,4 million (2016: R6 million) related to the OLG Abaholi share-based payment scheme. 

At 31 May 2017 the group has a share-based payment equity reserve of R8,7 million (2016: R7,4 million) which is included in the 

share-based compensation reserve in the statement of changes in equity relating to the management share-based compensation 

scheme.

The main inputs into the above valuation models are as follows:

Valuation date: 28 January 2015

Maturity date: 28 January 2020

Spot price at 28 January 2015: R6,03

90-day VWAP to price the preference shares: R5,22

Volatility: 26%

Dividend yield: 1,5%

The risk-free interest rate was determined using a bootstrapped zero coupon perfect fit swap curve.
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22. Share-based compensation (continued)

Management share-based compensation schemes (continued)

The following executives participate in the management scheme:

Name

Indicative
 number of 

OneLogix 
shares 

2017

IFRS 2 
charge 

2017 
R’000

Indicative 
number of 
OneLogix 

shares 
2016 

IFRS 2 
charge 

2016 
R’000

NJ Bester 747 551 80 747 551 353

GM Glass 498 367 53 498 367 235

IK Lourens 747 551 80 747 551 353

CV McCulloch 747 551 80 747 551 353

2 741 020 293 2 741 020 1 294

The number of indicative shares will fluctuate annually and will only be finalised based on the expected number of shares to be 

settled at vesting date.
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Notes
2017 

R’000
2016 

R’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Investment in subsidiaries 1 524 135 233 746

Deferred taxation 2 434 371

524 569 234 117

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3 1 685 1 647

1 685 1 647

Total assets 526 254 235 764

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves attributable to the group’s equity holders

Stated capital 4 430 650 430 650

Treasury shares 5 (142 805) (142 805)

Retained earnings 204 958 (74 727)

Share-based compensation reserve 6 30 206 19 651

Total equity 523 009 232 769

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 7 3 245 2 995

Total liabilities 3 245 2 995

Total equity and liabilities 526 254 235 764

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the fi nancial statements.

at 31 May 2017

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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for the year ended 31 May 2017

COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Notes
2017 

R’000
2016 

R’000

Continuing operations

Employment costs 8 (26 090) (23 235)

Administration fees 25 868 21 908

Operating loss (222) (1 327)

Finance income 9 300 000 –

Profit/(loss) before taxation 299 778 (1 327)

Taxation 10 63 371

Profit/(loss) after taxation 299 841 (956)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the fi nancial statements.
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for the year ended 31 May 2017

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Company

Stated 
capital 
R’000

Treasury 
shares 
R’000

Retained
 income 

R’000

Share-based 
compensation 

reserve 
R’000

Total 
R’000

At 31 May 2015 400 200 (142 805) (58 654) 4 474 203 215

Loss for the year – – (956) – (956)

Dividend paid – – (15 117) – (15 117)

Share-based compensation reserve movement – – – 15 177 15 177

Specific share issue 30 450 – – – 30 450

At 31 May 2016 430 650 (142 805) (74 727) 19 651 232 769

Profit for the year – – 299 841 – 299 841

Dividend paid – – (20 156) – (26 156)

Share-based compensation reserve movement – – – 10 555 10 555

At 31 May 2017 430 650 (142 805) 204 958 30 206 523 009

Notes 4 5 6

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the fi nancial statements.
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for the year ended 31 May 2017

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

Notes
2017 

R’000
2016 

R’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts 524 15 342

Cash paid to suppliers and employees – –

Cash generated from operations 11 524 15 342

Taxation paid – (234)

Dividend paid to shareholders – (15 117)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 524 (9)

Cash flows from financing activities

Increase in borrowings (486) –

Repayment of borrowings – –

Net cash flows from financing activities (486) –

Net increase/(decrease) in/(from) cash and cash equivalents 38 (9)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1 647 1 656

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 3 1 685 1 647

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the fi nancial statements.
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for the year ended 31 May 2017

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

1. Investment in subsidiaries

Unlisted:

Shares at cost

Balance at the beginning of the year 138 641 94 681

Additional investment in OneLogix Proprietary Limited (IFRS 2 charges) 10 059 13 510

Investment in Commercial Vehicle Delivery Services Proprietary Limited, United Bulk Proprietary 

Limited and OneLogix Projex Proprietary Limited sold to OneLogix Proprietary Limited (38 017) –

Additional investment in United Bulk Proprietary Limited – 30 450

Balance at the end of the year 110 683 138 641

Loan to OneLogix Proprietary Limited 413 452 95 105

524 135 233 746

The loan to OneLogix Proprietary Limited has no fixed repayment terms, is interest-free 

and is considered to be part of the investment in subsidiary. 

Aggregate attributable after tax profits of subsidiaries 58 729 51 010

Aggregate attributable after tax losses of subsidiaries – (3 567)

Aggregate attributable after tax profits of subsidiaries 58 729 47 443

Refer to note 12 for detail of principal subsidiary undertakings.

Movement in loan to OneLogix Proprietary Limited (318 347)

Non-cash dividend received 300 000

Dividend paid by subsidiary (20 156)

Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries’ non-cash flow 38 017

Cash movement (486)

2. Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using a 

principal tax rate of 28% (2016: 28%). The movement on deferred taxation is as follows:

At the beginning of the year 371 –

Income statement movement 63 371

At the end of the year 434 371

The deferred tax asset balance comprises:

Provisions and other 434 371

434 371

3. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and on hand 1 685 1 647

1 685 1 647
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Number 
of shares 

2017

Number 
of shares 

2016

4. Stated capital

Authorised

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 500 000 000 shares with no par value 500 000 000 500 000 000

Number 
of shares 

2017

Number 
of shares 

2016
2017 

R’000
2016 

R’000

Issued

Balance at the beginning of the year 289 923 181 284 123 181 430 650 400 200

Shares issued to non-controlling interest – 5 800 000 – 30 450

Balance at the end of the year 289 923 181 289 923 181 430 650 430 650

5. Treasury shares

Treasury shares at the beginning and end of the year 37 976 892 37 976 892 142 805 142 805

6. Share-based compensation reserve

Share-based compensation reserve 30 206 19 651

30 206 19 651

7. Trade and other payables

Bonus accrual 849 774

Leave pay accrual 700 556

Workmens’ Compensation accrual 17 25

Unclaimed capital distributions and dividends 1 679 1 640

3 245 2 995

8. Employment costs

Short-term benefit

 Salaries and wages 23 152 19 434

 Staff training – 26

Post-employment benefits

 Contributions to defined contribution plans 2 442 2 108

 Share-based compensation charges 496 1 667

26 090 23 235

9. Finance income

Dividend received 300 000 300 000

300 000 300 000
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for the year ended 31 May 2017

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2017 
R’000

2016 
R’000

10. Taxation

Current taxation

Current year South African normal tax – –

– –

Deferred taxation

Current year (63) (371)

(63) (371)

The taxation on the company’s profit before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that 

would arise using the basic tax rate as follows:

Profit/(loss) before taxation 299 778 (1 327)

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 28% (2016: 28%) 83 937 (371)

Dividend received not taxable (84 000) –

Taxation (63) (371)

Further information about deferred taxation is presented in note 2.

11. Cash generated from operations

Reconciliation of operating profit to cash flows from operating activities:

Operating loss (222) (1 327)

Adjustments for:

Share-based payments 496 1 667

Changes in working capital (excluding the effects of acquisition and disposal 

of subsidiaries):

Movement in trade and other receivables – 13 660

Movement in trade and other payables 250 1 342

524 15 342
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Country

Effective 
percen-

tage held 
2017 

%

Effective 
percen-

tage held 
2016 

%

Shares 
at cost 

R’000

Capital
 contribution 

to subsidiaries
 in respect of

 equity-settled
 share-based

 payment 
R’000

Net 
receiv-

able
 2017 
R’000

Net 
receiv-

able 
2016 

R’000

12. Interest in subsidiaries and 
associates

Details of companies are reflected below:

Directly held

Subsidiary of OneLogix Group Limited:

OneLogix Proprietary Limited RSA 100 100 52 190 28 043 413 452 95 105

OLI Trading Limited Mauritius 75 – – – – –

Indirectly held

Subsidiaries of OneLogix 

Proprietary Limited:

Commercial Vehicle Delivery Services 

Proprietary Limited2 RSA 100 100 – – – –

Vehicle Delivery Services Zimbabwe 

(Pvt) Limited Zimbabwe 100 100 – – – –

RFB Logistics Proprietary Limited2 RSA 100 100 – – – –

PM Hire Proprietary Limited2 RSA 100 100 – – – –

Madison Freightlines Proprietary Limited2 RSA 100 100 – – – –

Atlas360 Commercial Vehicle Services 

Proprietary Limited RSA 71,3 71,3 – – – –

OneLogix Projex Proprietary Limited RSA 86,9 86,9 – – – –

Middle of the Road Proprietary Limited RSA 100 90 – – – –

Quasar Software Development 

Proprietary Limited RSA 85 85 – – – –

United Bulk Proprietary Limited1 RSA 100 100 30 450 – – –

OneLogix Linehaul Proprietary Limited RSA 75 75 – – – –

Jackson Transport Proprietary Limited RSA 74 74 – – – –

Jackson Fleet Proprietary Limited2 RSA 74 74 – – – –

Buffelshoek Transport SA 

Proprietary Limited RSA 74 74 – – – –

Buffelshoek Fleet Proprietary Limited2 RSA 74 74 – – – –

Zatosat Proprietary Limited2 RSA 100 – – – – –

Subsidiaries of United Bulk 

Proprietary Limited:

Vision Transport Proprietary Limited RSA 100 100 – – – –

Cryogas Express Proprietary Limited RSA 74,2 74,2 – – – –

1. 26% of shareholding in United Bulk (Pty) Ltd is held by OneLogix Group Limited.

2. Dormant companies
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as at 31 May 2017

SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS

Number of 
ordinary 

shareholders %

Number of 
ordinary 

shares %

At 31 May 2017

Institutions and other companies 392 15,9 110 710 020 38,2

Directors 4 0,2 109 252 957 37,7

Treasury shares held by OneLogix Group 2 0,1 37 976 892 13,1

Other individuals 2 064 83,8 31 983 312 11,0

Total 2 462 100,0 289 923 181 100,0

Size of holdings

1 – 999 690 28,1 202 289 0,1

1 000 – 9 999 1 059 43,0 3 680 884 1,3

10 000 – 99 999 581 23,6 15 875 046 5,5

100 000 – 999 999 104 4,2 22 886 181 7,9

1 000 000 shares and over 28 1,1 247 278 781 85,2

Total 2 462 100,0 289 923 181 100,0

At 31 May 2016

Institutions and other companies 407 15,9 109 219 880 37,7

Directors 4 0,2 108 959 799 37,6

Treasury shares held by OneLogix Group 2 0,1 37 976 892 13,1

Other individuals 2 138 83,8 33 766 610 11,6

Total 2 551 100,0 289 923 181 100,0

Size of holdings

1 – 999 592 23,2 197 704 0,1

1 000 – 9 999 1 206 47,3 4 245 427 1,5

10 000 – 99 999 618 24,2 16 199 978 5,6

100 000 – 999 999 106 4,2 26 127 055 9,0

1 000 000 shares and over 29 1,1 243 153 017 83,8

Total 2 551 100,0 289 923 181 100,0

At year-end, 2 451 shareholders holding 127 596 529 shares were classifi ed as public shareholders (being 99,6% of the total number of 

shareholders and 44% of the total number of issued shares) and 11 shareholders holding 162 326 652 shares were classifi ed as non-

public shareholders (being 0,4% of the total shareholders and 56% of the issued shares).

Number 
of shares

 Issued 
capital

%

Beneficial shareholders with a holding greater than 5% of the issued shares

Mr Neville John Bester 91 253 945 31,5

Kagiso Capital (Pty) Limited 28 056 585 9,7

OLG Esizayo (Pty) Limited (treasury shares held by OneLogix Group Limited) 25 317 929 8,7
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SHAREHOLDERS’ DIARY

2017

Financial year-end 31 May

Announcement of interim results 2 February

Announcement of annual results 24 August

Integrated annual report September

Annual general meeting 23 November
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DEFINITIONS

“Abnormal Logistics” Reportable segment comprising VDS, 

CVDS and OneLogix Projex

“Atlas360” Atlas360 Commercial Vehicle Services 

(Pty) Ltd

“B-BBEE” Broad-based black economic 

empowerment

“the board” The board of directors of OneLogix 

Group Limited

“Buffelshoek” Buffelshoek Transport SA (Pty) Ltd and 

Buffelshoek Fleet (Pty) Ltd

“Companies Act” South African Companies Act No 71 

of 2008

“CEO” Chief Executive Officer of OneLogix 

(Ian Lourens)

“COO” Chief Operations Officer of OneLogix 

(Cameron McCulloch)

“Cryogas” Cryogas Express (Pty) Ltd

“DriveRisk” DriveRisk (Pty) Ltd

“ESG” Environment, social, governance

“FD” Financial Director of OneLogix 

(Geoff Glass)

“FY17” Financial year ended 31 May 2017

“GRI” Global Reporting Index

“the group” OneLogix Group Limited and its 

subsidiaries, associates and affiliates

“Jackson” Jackson Transport (Pty) Ltd and 

Jackson Fleet (Pty) Ltd

“JSE” JSE Limited, the official securities 

exchange of South Africa

“King III Report” or 

“King III” 

King Report on Corporate Governance 

for South Africa 2009

“NCI” Non-controlling interest

“OEM” Original Equipment Manufacturer, which 

refers to automotive parts, specifically 

replacement parts made by the 

manufacturer of the original part

“OneLogix” or 

“the company” 

OneLogix Group Limited listed on the 

JSE in the Transportation Services 

Sector

“ OneLogix Cargo 

Solutions” or 

“Cargo Solutions”

OneLogix Cargo Solutions (Pty) Ltd

“OneLogix CVDS” or 

“CVDS”

Commercial Vehicle Delivery Services 

(Pty) Ltd

“OneLogix Linehaul” OneLogix Linehaul (Pty) Ltd

“OneLogix Projex” or 

“Projex”

OneLogix Projex (Pty) Ltd

“ OneLogix United 

Bulk” or “United 

Bulk”

United Bulk (Pty) Ltd

“OneLogix VDS” or 

“VDS”

Vehicle Delivery Services, a division of 

OneLogix (Pty) Ltd

“Other – Logistics 

Services” 

Non-reportable segment including the 

businesses comprising Atlas360, QSA, 

OneLogix Cargo Solutions and DriveRisk

“Primary Products 

Logistics”

Reportable segment comprising United 

Bulk, OneLogix Linehaul, Jackson and 

Buffelshoek

“QSA” Quasar Software Developments (Pty) Ltd

“SENS” Stock Exchange News Service, the 

official information dissemination 

platform of the JSE Limited

“SHEQ” Safety, Health, Environment and Quality

“the previous year” 

or “the prior year” 

The year ended 31 May 2016

“the year” or “the year 

under review” 

The year ended 31 May 2017

“United Bulk Cluster” United Bulk (Pty) Ltd, Vision Transport 

(Pty) Ltd and Cryogas Express (Pty) Ltd

“Vision” Vision Transport (Pty) Ltd

Financial
“Core HEPS” HEPS adjusted for the amortisation 

charge of intangibles recognised on 

business combinations and share-based 

payment charges

“EPS” Earnings per share

“HEPS” Headline earnings per share 

(as calculated based on SAICA 

Circular 2/2015)

“NAV” Net asset value

“NTAV” Net tangible asset value
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ADMINISTRATION

OneLogix Group Limited

Company registration number: 1998/004519/06

JSE code: OLG

ISIN: ZAE 000026399

Business address and registered offi ce

46 Tulbagh Road

Pomona

Kempton Park

Postnet Suite 10

Private Bag X27

Kempton Park

1620

Telephone +27 11 396 9040

Facsimile +27 11 396 9050

Company secretary

CIS Company Secretaries Proprietary Limited

Rosebank Towers

15 Biermann Avenue

Rosebank

2195

PO Box 61051

Marshalltown

2107

Telephone +27 11 370 5237

Registered auditor

Mazars Gauteng

Partner: S Ranchhoojee

54 Glenhove Road

Melrose Estate

2196

PO Box 6697

Johannesburg

2000

Telephone +27 11 547 4000

Facsimile +27 11 484 7854 

Investor relations and sustainability

Ian Lourens (CEO)

46 Tulbagh Road

Pomona

Kempton Park

Postnet Suite 10

Private Bag X27

Kempton Park

1620

Telephone +27 11 396 9040

Facsimile +27 11 396 9050

Transfer secretaries

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited

Rosebank Towers

15 Biermann Avenue

Rosebank

2195

PO Box 61051

Marshalltown

2107

Telephone +27 11 370 5000

Facsimile +27 11 370 5271

Sponsor

Java Capital Proprietary Limited (a sponsor registered with JSE 

Limited)

2nd Floor

6A Sandown Crescent Valley

Sandton

2196

PO Box 2087

Parklands

2121

Telephone +27 11 722 3050

Facsimile +27 11 686 9061
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ANNEXURE A: B-BBEE ANNUAL COMPLIANCE REPORT
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ANNEXURE A: B-BBEE ANNUAL COMPLIANCE REPORT (continued)

GM Glass

Financial Director

21 September 2017

Johannesburg
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NOTES
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Head Offi ce

46 Tulbagh Road, Pomona, Kempton Park

PostNet Suite 10, Private Bag x27, Kempton Park, 1620

Telephone +27 11 396 9040

Facsimile +27 11 396 9050

www.onelogix.com




